
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1. Call to Order Mayor Blake 
Moment of Silence  
Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag 
 

Statement of Disclosure/Conflict of Interest Statement 
 
2. Agenda Adjustments and Approval Mayor Blake 

 
3. Consent Agenda  Mayor Blake    

a) Approval of September 9, 2019 Regular Meeting Minutes 
b) Approval of September 25, 2019 Special Meeting Minutes 
c) Approval of Amended June 10, 2019 Minutes 
d) Approval of October Monthly Financial Report 

 
4. Chief T. Shane Armstrong Oath of Office Town Clerk Laura Morton 

 
5. Annexation of New Road  Manager Holland 

 
6. Approval of Bid Proposals for the Shady Oak Pump Station Manager Holland 

 
7. Census Committee Town Clerk Laura Morton 

 
8. Set Public Hearing Conditional Use Application Manager Holland  

LeCraw Engineering – 101 Montgomery Crossing 
 
9. Public Comment 

 
10. Mayor’s Minutes       -      Commissioner Reports         -        Staff Reports 
 
11. Adjournment  
 

Biscoe Town Council  
Meeting Agenda for October 14, 2019 at 7:00 pm 



Statement of Disclosure/Conflict of Interest Statement 
 

 

Based upon New Rules of Procedure Policy Adopted by the Board September 9, 2019 

Town of Biscoe Code of Ethics provides that public officials and employees be independent, 
impartial and responsible to the public; that governmental decisions and policy be made in 
proper channels of the governmental structure; that public office not be used for personal gain; 
and that the public have confidence in the integrity of its government.  In recognition of these 
goals and in keeping with the ethical standards of conduct for town public officials and its 
employees, disclosure of interest in legislative action must be stated for the public record.  The 
mayor or any member of the town council who has an interest in any official act or action before 
the council shall publicly disclose on the record of the council the nature and extent of such 
interest, and shall withdraw from any consideration of the matter if excused by the council 
pursuant to G.S. 160A-75.  

 

 
“In keeping with the Conflict of Interest Laws outlined in Chapter 138A of the North Carolina Board 
of Ethics, any conflicts of interest or appearance of conflict with matters coming before the Board of 
Commissioners should be declared.”  “Having received our agenda for this evening’s meeting, are 
there any conflicts of interest to be announced?  If so please, state them at this time.” 

 



Agenda Adjustments and Approval 

 

 

This is a new agenda item Based upon  

New Rules of Procedure Policy Adopted by the Board September 9, 2019 

 

 

 



Consent Agenda   
    
a) Approval of September 9, 2019 Regular Meeting Minutes 
b) Approval of Amended June 10, 2019 Minutes 
c) Approval of October Monthly Financial Report 

 

 

We are requesting the minutes from the last month’s regular meeting and special called meeting be 
approved, as well as the June 10, 2019 minutes. These minutes had to be retyped because the file was 
lost. 

The regular monthly financial report (MFR) for October is included for your review, questions and 
approval. 



TOWN OF BISCOE 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING 

September 9, 2019 
 

The Biscoe Town Board of Commissioners met in a regular session on Monday, September 9, 2019 at 
7:00 pm in the Municipal Building. Present were: Mayor Jimmy Blake, Mayor Pro-Tem Jerry Smith, 
Commissioners Gene Anderson, and Kay Cagle Kinch. Commissioner John Beard was absent. (James 
Cagle, Jr. “Jimmy” Cagle’s seat is vacant due to his death on December 30, 2017).  
 
Members of Management Present: Town Manager Brandon Holland, Town Clerk Laura Morton, 
Public Works Director Sam Stewart and Interim Police Chief Shane Armstrong. 
 
Call to Order/Pledge of Allegiance 
Mayor Blake called the meeting to order at 7:00 pm. The Pledge of Allegiance to the American Flag 
was recited and a moment of silence was observed. 
 
Conflict of Interest Statement 
“In keeping with the Conflict of Interest Laws outlined in Chapter 138A of the North Carolina Board 
of Ethics, any conflicts of interest or appearance of conflict with matters coming before the Board of 
Commissioners should be declared,” “Having received our agenda for this evening’s meeting, are 
there any conflicts of interest to be announced? If so, please, state them at this time.” 
 
Approval of the Consent Agenda 
A motion was made by Mayor Pro-tem Smith, seconded by Commissioner Kinch and so the motion 
carried unanimously to approve consent agenda items: 
 

a) Approval of the Agenda  
b) Approval of August 12, 2019 Regular Meeting Minutes 
c) Approval of September Monthly Financial Report 

 
AYES: 3; NAYS: 0 
 
Budget Amendments 
A motion was made by Commissioner Anderson, seconded by Mayor Pro-tem Smith, and so the 
motion carried unanimously to approve the following Budget Amendments: 
 
Budget Amendment #2 
Public Works   Approval of Purchase Order for Purser Rewinding in the amount of $5,339.30. 

(Budget Code 60-7100-550) 
 
GL Account Number    Date  Debit  Credit   
60-3991-000 Fund Balance Appropriated 9-09-2019   5,339.30 
60-7100-550 Capital Outlay   9-09-2019 5,339.30 
 
  



Budget Amendment #3 
Fire Department   OSFM Grant – Approval of Moving $60,000  
 from Fire Department Capital Outlay to 2019 OSFM Grant  
 (Budget Code 10-4340-550 to 10-4340-002) 
 
GL Account Number    Date  Debit  Credit   
10-4340-550 Capital Outlay          9-09-2019            60,000.00 
10-3991-000 Fund Balance         9-09-2019    60,000.00 
10-3991-000 Fund Balance         9-09-2019  60,000.00 
10-4340-002 2019 OSFM        9-09-2019  60,000.00 
 
AYES: 3; NAYS: 0 
 
Approval of Policies 
A motion was made by Commissioner Kinch, seconded by Commissioner Anderson, and so motion 
carried unanimously approve the Biscoe Town Council Rules of Procedure Policy, Approval of Biscoe 
Surplus Property Policy, and the Personnel Policy Amendments. (Attachments 1, 2, 3) 
 
AYES: 3; NAYS: 0 
 
Approval of RFP for Legal Services for CDBG-I – Bruton Street Project 
Manager Holland said a Request for Proposals for Legal Services for the CDBG-I – Bruton Street 
Project was sent out on 2 separate occasions and only one proposal was received. That proposal was 
from Town Attorney Russell Hollers III (Hollers & Atkinson). Manager Holland explained that because 
only one proposal was received a letter to the state would need to be sent explaining the process.  
 
A motion was made by Mayor Pro-tem Smith, seconded by Commissioner Kinch, and so the motion 
carried unanimously to award the RFP for Legal Services for CDBG-I – Bruton Street Project to Russell 
Holler III (Hollers & Atkinson). 
 
AYES: 3; NAYS: 0                                                                                          RFP Attached   (Attachment 4) 
 
New Speed Bump Request 
A motion was made by Mayor Pro-tem Smith, seconded by Commissioner Anderson, and so the 
motion carried unanimously approve an additional speed bump for Church Street. 
 
Mayor Blake directed Public Utility Director Sam Stewart to look into having a speed bump on this 
street. 
 
AYES: 3; NAYS: 0 
 
Police Department Presentation 
Interim Police Chief Shane Armstrong and Sergeant Tina Medlin gave a presentation on the Town’s 
new Community Policing Council. The meetings will be held in the Meeting Room at Town Hall every 
month. (Attachment 5) 
 



Mayor’s Minutes       -      Commissioner Reports         -        Staff Reports 
Mayor Blake invited the Board to attend a Piedmont Triad Regional Council event at the Zoo on 
October 14 at 2 pm.  
 
Mayor Blake said he attended a 100th birthday party for Ms. Maness held by Ms. Hinson. He also 
attended the Labor Day Breakfast at the Good Ole Boys Club organized by Gene Stevens.  
 
Mayor Blake announced there is a new business opened on Shady Oak at the Old Lynn Dean 
Building.  They make maternity clothes. The business has new updated equipment. 
 
Manager Holland said plans for the Bruton Street Project have been designed and submitted to the 
State. He also updated the Board on the Shady Oak Pump Station Renovation. 
 
Public Comment 
The following spoke during the public forum: 
 
Mr. Tom Dowd of 125 Industrial Drive and 495 Cedar Creek Road was present. He thanked the Board 
and Sam Stewart for the No Parking Signs. He asked why business owners in Biscoe aren’t allowed to 
run for public office. Mayor Blake said that is up to the General Assembly and the State Board of 
Elections. 
 
Mr. Johnie Harris of 658 Bruton Street Extension was present. He voiced his concerns about the 
Biscoe Police Department.  He asked for a follow-up on the topics he raised at the August 2019 
meeting. These topics included safe zones, a diversity citizen review board, race training, and hiring 
of a minority officer. He asked if the officer had been fired. Mr. Harris also asked why Biscoe Police 
Salaries are so low. He also asked who is in charge of hiring and firing of employees. 
 
Mayor Blake said Manager Holland is responsible for hiring and firing of all employees with the 
exception of the Town Clerk. 
 
Manager Holland said he could not speak in an open meeting about an employee. He said he would 
meet with Mr. Harris and talk with him about what he is allowed to speak about on a one on one 
basis. 
 
Benjy Dunn of Lake Drive thanked the Board for the speed bump on Church Street. 
 
Closed Session – Pursuant to NCGS 143-318.11 (a) (3) – Attorney Client Privilege 
It was decided there was no need for a closed session at this meeting. 
 
Adjournment  
There being no further business to bring before the Board, Commissioner Beard made the motion to 
adjourn, and Commissioner Kinch made the second. All voted in favor. Meeting adjourned at 7:45 
p.m.  
 
_________________________                 __________________________ 
Mayor                    Town Clerk 
 



Attachment #1 
 

 
 

Suggested Rules of Procedure  
for a City Council 

 
 
 
 

 
Part I. Applicability  
 
Rule 1. Applicability of Rules 
These rules apply to all meetings of the Biscoe Town Council. For purposes of these rules, a meeting 
of the council occurs whenever a majority of the council’s members gather, whether in person or 
simultaneously by electronic means, to conduct hearings, deliberate, vote, or otherwise transact 
public business within the council’s real or apparent jurisdiction. The term “majority” as used here 
and elsewhere in these rules means, unless otherwise specified, a simple majority, that is, more than 
half. 
 
Part II. Quorum 
 
Rule 2. Quorum 
The presence of a quorum is necessary for the council to conduct business. A majority of the 
council’s actual membership plus the mayor, excluding vacant seats, constitutes a quorum. A 
member who withdraws from a meeting without being excused by majority vote of the remaining 
members in attendance is deemed present for quorum purposes. 
 
Part III. Open Meetings 
 
Rule 3. Remote Participation in Council Meetings 
No member who is not physically present for a council meeting may participate in the meeting by 
electronic means except in accordance with a policy adopted by the council. [Although a member 
who attends a meeting electronically pursuant to such a policy may take part in debate, the member 
may neither be counted toward a quorum nor vote on any matter before the council.] 
 
Rule 4. Meetings to Be Open to the Public 
Except as permitted by Rule 5, all meetings of the council shall be open to the public, and any person 
may attend its meetings. 
 
Rule 5. Closed Sessions 
(a) Motion to Enter Closed Session. The city council may enter a closed session from which the 
public is excluded only upon a motion duly made and adopted in open session. The motion to enter 
closed session must cite one or more of the permissible bases for closed session listed in 
paragraph (b) of this rule. A motion to enter closed session under subparagraph (b)(1) or (b)(2) must 
contain the additional information specified in those provisions. 



 
(b) Bases for Closed Session. A closed session is permissible under the following circumstances and 
no others: 
 

(1) To prevent the disclosure of information that is privileged or confidential pursuant to the 
law of North Carolina or of the United States or that does not constitute a public record 
within the meaning of Chapter 132 of the General Statutes. The motion to enter closed 
session must name or cite the law that renders the information confidential or privileged. 

 
 (2) To consult with the city attorney or another attorney employed or retained by the city in 

order to preserve the attorney–client privilege. If the council expects to discuss a pending 
lawsuit with its attorney, the motion to enter closed session must include the names of the 
parties to the lawsuit. 

 
 (3) To discuss matters relating to (a) the location or expansion of industries or other businesses 

in the area served by the city or (b) the closure or realignment of a military installation. The 
council may reach agreement in closed session on a tentative list of economic development 
incentives to be offered in negotiations, but the approval of the signing of any economic 
development contract or commitment and the authorization of the payment of economic 
development expenditures must take place in open session. 

 
 (4) To establish or instruct staff or agents concerning the city’s position in negotiating the price 

or other material terms of an agreement for the acquisition of real property by purchase, 
exchange, or lease. 

 
 (5) To establish or instruct staff or agents concerning the amount of compensation or other 

material terms of an employment contract. 
 
 (6) To consider the qualifications, competence, performance, character, fitness, or conditions 

of appointment or employment of a public officer or employee or prospective public officer 
or employee, except when the individual in question is a member of the city council or 
other public body or is being considered to fill a vacancy on the city council or other public 
body. Final action to appoint or employ a public officer or employee must take place in 
open session. 

 
 (7) To hear or investigate a charge or complaint by or against a public officer or employee. Final 

action discharging an employee or removing an officer must occur in open session. 
 
 (8) To plan, conduct, or hear reports concerning investigations of alleged criminal misconduct. 
 
 (9) To view a law enforcement recording released pursuant to G.S. 132-1.4A. 
 
 (10) On any other basis permitted by law. 
 

(c) Closed Session Participants. Unless the council directs otherwise, the city manager, city attorney, 
and city clerk may attend closed sessions of the council. No other person may attend a closed 
session unless invited by majority vote of the council. 
 



 
(d) Motion to Return to Open Session. Upon completing its closed session business, the council shall 
end the closed session by adopting a duly made motion to return to open session. 
 
Rule 6. Meeting Minutes 
(a) Minutes Required for All Meetings. The council must keep full and accurate minutes of all of its 
meetings, including closed sessions. To be “full and accurate,” minutes must record all actions taken 
by the council. They should set out the precise wording of each motion and make it possible to 
determine the number of votes cast for and against each motion. The minutes need not record 
discussions of the council, though the council in its discretion may decide to incorporate such details 
into the minutes. 
 
 
(b) Record of “Ayes” and “Noes.” At the request of any member of the council, the minutes shall list 
each member by name and record how each member voted on a particular matter. 
 
(c) General Accounts of Closed Sessions. In addition to minutes, the council must keep a general 
account of each closed session. The general account must be sufficiently detailed to provide a 
person not in attendance with a reasonable understanding of what transpired. The council may 
combine the minutes and general account of a closed session into one document, so long as the 
document contains both a complete record of actions taken and the level of detail required for a 
general account. 
 
(d) Sealing Closed Session Records. Minutes and general accounts of closed sessions shall be sealed 
until unsealed by order of the council or, if the council delegates the authority to unseal to one or 
more staff members, in accordance with guidelines adopted by the council. The sealed minutes and 
general account of any closed session may be withheld from public inspection so long as public 
inspection would frustrate the purpose(s) of the closed session. 
 
Rule 7.  Broadcasting and Recording Meetings 
(a) Right to Broadcast and Record. Any person may photograph, film, tape-record, or otherwise 
reproduce any part of a council meeting that must take place in open session. Except as provided in 
paragraph (c) of this rule, any radio or television station may broadcast any such part of a council 
meeting. 
 
(b) Advance Notice. Any radio or television station that plans to broadcast any portion of a council 
meeting shall so notify the [city clerk/city manager/administrator] no later than [twenty-four hours] 
before the meeting. The failure to provide notice is not, by itself, grounds for preventing the 
broadcast of a council meeting. 
 
(c) Equipment Placement. The [city manager/administrator] may regulate the placement and use of 
camera or recording equipment in order to prevent undue interference with a council meeting, so 
long as he or she allows the equipment to be placed where it can carry out its intended function. If 
the [city manager/administrator] determines in good faith that the equipment and personnel 
necessary to broadcast, photograph, or record the meeting cannot be accommodated without 
undue interference to the meeting, and an adequate alternative meeting room is not readily 
available, the [city manager/administrator] may require the pooling of the equipment and the 
personnel operating it. 



 
(d) Alternative Meeting Site. If the news media request an alternative meeting site to accommodate 
news coverage, and the council grants the request, the news media making the request shall pay the 
costs incurred by the city in securing an alternative meeting site. 
 
Part IV. Organization of the Council 
 
Rule 8.  Organizational Meeting; Selection of [Mayor and] Mayor Pro Tempore 
(a) Scheduling Organizational Meeting. The council must hold an organizational meeting following 
each general election in which council members are elected. The organizational meeting must be 
held either (1) on the date and at the time of the council’s first regular meeting in December 
following the election or (2) at an earlier date, if any, set by the incumbent council. The 
organizational meeting may not be held before municipal election results are officially determined, 
certified, and published as required by law. 
 
(b) Oath of Office. As the first order of business at the organizational meeting, all newly elected 
members of the council must take and subscribe the oath of office set out in Article VI, Section 7, of 
the North Carolina Constitution. Each member’s oath must be filed with the city clerk. Although a 
member who is not present for the organizational meeting may take the oath of office at another 
time, every member must take, subscribe, and file the oath before he or she begins performing any 
of the duties of the member’s office. 
 
(c) Selection of [Mayor and] Mayor Pro Tempore. As the second order of business at the 
organizational meeting, the council shall elect from among its members [a mayor and] a mayor 
pro tempore using the procedures specified in Rule 38. [The mayor shall serve for [a certain term] [at 
the pleasure of the council]]. The mayor pro tempore shall [likewise] serve at the council’s pleasure. 
 
Part V. Types of Meetings 
 
Rule 9. Regular Meetings 
(a) Regular Meeting Schedule. The council shall hold a regular meeting on the third Monday of each 
month, except that if a regular meeting day is a legal holiday, the meeting shall be held on the next 
business day. The meeting shall be held at 110 West Main Street and begin at 7:00 pm. The council 
shall adopt a meeting schedule each year consistent with this rule. A copy of the council’s current 
meeting schedule shall be filed with the city clerk and posted on the Town’s website]. 
 
(b) Change to Meeting Schedule. Notwithstanding paragraph (a) of this rule, the council may amend 
its regular meeting schedule to add or delete meetings or to change the date, time, or location of 
one or more meetings on the schedule. The amended schedule shall be filed with the city clerk at 
least seven (7) calendar days before the day of the first meeting held pursuant to the revised 
schedule [and posted on the city’s website]. 
 
Rule 10. Special Meetings 
(a) Calling Special Meetings. A special meeting of the council may be called by the mayor, the mayor 
pro tempore, or any two council members. A special meeting may also be called by vote of the 
council in open session during a regular meeting or another duly called special meeting. 
(b) Notice to the Public. At least forty-eight hours before a special meeting of the council, notice of 



the date, time, place, and purpose of the meeting shall be (1) posted on the council’s principal 
bulletin board or, if the council has no such board, at the door of the council’s usual meeting room 
and (2) delivered, e-mailed, or mailed to each newspaper, wire service, radio station, television 
station, and person who has filed a written request for notice with the city clerk. Furthermore, if the 
council has a website maintained by at least one city employee, notice of the special meeting’s date, 
time, place, and purpose shall be posted on the website in advance of the meeting. 
 
(c) Notice to Members. 

(1) Meeting called by the mayor, the mayor pro tempore, or any two council members. At least 
forty-eight hours before a special meeting called by the mayor, the mayor pro tempore, or 
any two council members, written notice of the meeting stating its date, time, and place, as 
well as the subjects to be considered, shall be delivered to the mayor and each council 
member or left at his or her usual dwelling place. 

 
(2) Meeting called by vote of the council in open session. When a special meeting is called by 

vote of the council in open session during a regular meeting or another duly called special 
meeting, the motion or resolution calling the special meeting shall state the meeting’s date, 
time, place, and purpose. [Written notice of the special meeting’s date, time, place, and 
purpose shall be mailed or delivered at least forty-eight hours before the meeting to each 
council member not present for the meeting at which the special meeting was called and to 
the mayor if he or she was not present at that meeting.] 

 
(d) Transacting Other Business. Unless all members are present or any absent member has signed a 
written waiver of notice, only those items of business specified in the notice to council members 
may be taken up at a special meeting. [Even when all members are present or any absent member 
has signed a waiver, the council may take up an item of business not covered by the notice only if the 
council first determines in good faith that the item must be discussed or acted upon immediately.] 
 
Rule 11. Emergency Meetings 
(a) Grounds for Emergency Meeting. Emergency meetings of the city council may be called only to 
address generally unexpected circumstances demanding the council’s immediate attention. 
 
(b) Calling Emergency Meetings. There are two methods by which an emergency meeting of the 
council may be called. 
 

(1) The mayor, the mayor pro tempore, or any two members of the council may at any time call an 
emergency council meeting by signing a written notice stating the date, time, and place of the 
meeting and the subjects to be considered. The notice shall be delivered to the mayor and 
each council member or left at his or her usual dwelling place at least six hours before the 
meeting. 

 
(2) An emergency meeting may be held when the mayor and all members of the council are 

present and consent thereto, or when any absent member has signed a written waiver of 
notice. 

 
(c) Notice to Media of Emergency Meetings. Notice of an emergency meeting shall be given to each 
local newspaper, local wire service, local radio station, and local television station that has filed a 
written request with the city clerk for notice of emergency meetings. To be valid, the request must 



include the newspaper’s, wire service’s, or station’s telephone number. Notice may be given by 
telephone, e-mail, or the same method used to notify council members. Notice must be provided 
immediately after council members have been notified and at the expense of the party notified. 
 
(d) Transaction of Other Business Prohibited. Only business connected with the emergency may be 
considered at an emergency meeting. 
 
Rule 12. Recessed Meetings 
(a) Calling Recessed Meetings. When conducting a properly called regular, special, or emergency 
meeting, the council may recess the meeting to another date, time, or place by a procedural motion 
made and adopted, as provided in Rule 31, Motion 3, in open session. The motion must state the 
time (including the date, if the meeting will resume on a different day) and place at which the 
meeting will reconvene. 
 
(b) Notice of Recessed Meetings. If the council has a website maintained by one or more city 
employees, notice of the recessed meeting’s date, time, and place must appear on the webpage 
prior to the meeting. No further notice of a properly called recessed meeting is required. 
 
Part VI. Agenda 
 
Rule 13. Agenda 
(a) Draft Agenda.  

(1) Preparation. The [city manager/administrator] [city clerk] shall prepare a draft agenda in 
advance of each meeting of the city council. 

 
(2) Requesting placement of items on draft agenda. For a regular meeting, a request to have an 

item of business placed on the draft agenda must be received by the [city 
manager/administrator] [city clerk] at least [two] working days before the date of the 
meeting. The [city manager/administrator] [city clerk] must place an item on the draft 
agenda in response to a council member’s timely request. 

 
(3) Supplemental information/materials. If the council is expected to consider a proposed 

ordinance or ordinance amendment, a copy of the proposed ordinance or amendment shall 
be attached to the draft agenda. [An agenda package shall be prepared that includes, for 
each item of business listed on the draft agenda, as much background information on the 
topic as is available and feasible to provide.] 

 
(4) Delivery to council members. Each council member shall receive a hard or electronic copy of 

the draft agenda [and the agenda package]. [Except in the case of an emergency meeting, 
the agenda [and agenda package] shall be furnished to each member at least [twenty-four 
hours] before the meeting.] 

 
(5) Public inspection. The draft agenda [and agenda package] shall be available to the public 

when the document[s] [is/are] ready to be, or [has/have] been, circulated. 
 
 
 

(b) Adoption of the Agenda. 



 
(1) Adoption. As its first order of business at each meeting, the council shall review the draft 

agenda, make whatever revisions it deems appropriate, and adopt a formal agenda for the 
meeting. 

 
(2) Amending the agenda. Both before and after it adopts the agenda, the council may add or 

subtract agenda items by majority vote of the members present and voting, except that 
 

1. the council may not add to the items stated in the notice of a special meeting unless the 
requirements in Rule 10(d) are satisfied and 

 
2. only business connected with the emergency may be considered at an emergency meeting. 

 
(3) Designation of items “For Discussion and Possible Action.” The council may designate an 

agenda item “for discussion and possible action.” The designation signifies that the council 
intends to discuss the item and may, if it so chooses, take action on the item following the 
discussion. 

 
(c) Consent Agenda. The council may designate part of an agenda for a regular meeting as the 
consent agenda. Items may be placed on the consent agenda by the person(s) charged with 
preparing the draft agenda if the items are judged to be noncontroversial and routine. Prior to the 
council’s adoption of the meeting agenda under subparagraph (b)(1) of this rule, the request of any 
member to have an item moved from the consent agenda to unfinished business must be honored 
by the council. All items on the consent agenda must be voted on and adopted by a single motion, 
with the minutes reflecting the motion and vote for each item. 
 
(d) Informal Discussion of Agenda Items. The council may informally discuss an agenda item even 
when no motion regarding that item is pending. 
 
Rule 14. Acting by Reference to Agenda or Other Document 
The council shall not deliberate, vote, or otherwise take action on any matter by reference to the 
agenda or any other document with the intention of preventing persons in attendance from 
understanding what action is being considered or undertaken. The council may deliberate and vote 
by reference to the agenda or any item on the agenda, including the consent agenda, provided 
copies of the agenda are available for public inspection at the meeting and are sufficiently worded to 
enable the public to understand what is being deliberated or acted upon. 
 
Rule 15. Agenda Items from Members of the Public 
If a member of the public wishes to request that the council include an item on its regular meeting 
agenda, he or she must submit the request to the [city clerk/city manager/administrator] by the 
deadline specified in Rule 13(a)(2). The council is not obligated to place an item on the agenda 
merely because such a request has been received. 
 
Rule 16. Order of Business 
Items shall be placed on a regular meeting agenda according to the order of business. The usual 
order of business for each regular meeting shall be as follows: 

1. Call to Order 



2. Moment of Silence 
3. Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag 
4. Statement of Disclosure/Conflict of Interest Statement) 
5.4.  
6.5. Agenda Adjustments and Approval 
7.6. Consent Agenda 
8.7. Public Hearings 
9.8. PUBLIC HEARINGS: To Begin at 7:30 p.m.Proclamations/Presentations                   
10.9. Regular Agenda 
11.10. Comments from the Public 
12.11. Council Comments   
13.12. Closed Session (If Required) 
14.13. Adjournment 
 

Without objection, the mayor may call agenda items in any order most convenient for the dispatch of 
business. 
 
*STATEMENT OF DISCLOSURE (To be read by the City Mayor) 
Elizabeth CityTown of Biscoe Code of Ethics provides that public officials and employees be 
independent, impartial and responsible to the public; that governmental decisions and policy be 
made in proper channels of the governmental structure; that public office not be used for personal 
gain; and that the public have confidence in the integrity of its government.  In recognition of these 
goals and in keeping with the ethical standards of conduct for city town public officials and its 
employees, disclosure of interest in legislative action must be stated for the public record, as per City 
of Elizabeth CityTown of Biscoe Town Code of Ordinances Section 2-113.  The mayor or any member 
of the citytown council who has an interest, as defined in Section 2-111 of the City of Elizabeth 
CityTown of Biscoe Town Code of Ordinances, in any official act or action before the council shall 
publicly disclose on the record of the council the nature and extent of such interest, and shall 
withdraw from any consideration of the matter if excused by the council pursuant to G.S. 160A-75.  
 
Part VII. Role of the Presiding Officer 
 
Rule 17. The Mayor 
(a) Presiding Officer. When present, the mayor shall preside at meetings of the council. 
 
(b) Right to Vote. The mayor [may vote only when an equal number of affirmative and negative 
votes have been cast] [votes on the same basis as other council members, though in no event may 
the mayor break a tie on a motion on which he or she has already voted]. 
 
(c) Recognition of Members. A member must be recognized by the mayor (or other presiding 
officer) in order to address the council, but recognition is not necessary for an appeal pursuant to 
Rule 31, Motion 1. 
 
(d) Powers as Presiding Officer. As presiding officer, the mayor is to enforce these rules and maintain 
order and decorum during council meetings. To that end, the mayor may 
 
 
 



(1) Rule on points of parliamentary procedure, to include ruling out of order any motion 
clearly offered for obstructive or dilatory purposes; 

 
(2) Determine whether a member or other speaker has gone beyond reasonable 

standards of courtesy in his or her remarks and entertain and rule on objections from 
other members on this ground; 

 
(3) Entertain and answer questions of parliamentary procedure; 
 
(4) Call a brief recess at any time; and 
 
(5) Adjourn in an emergency. 
 

(e) Appeals of Procedural Rulings. A member may appeal a decision made or answer given by the 
mayor under subparagraph (d)(1), (2), or (3) in accordance with Rule 31, Motion 1. 
 
Rule 18. The Mayor Pro Tempore 
(a) Presiding in Mayor’s Absence. When present, the mayor pro tempore shall preside over council 
meetings in the mayor’s absence with all the powers specified in Rule 17(d). 
 
(b) Delegation of Mayor’s Powers/Duties. In the mayor’s absence, the council may confer on the 
mayor pro tempore any of the mayor’s powers and duties. Likewise, if the mayor becomes physically 
or mentally unable to perform the duties of his or her office, the council may by unanimous vote 
declare the mayor incapacitated and confer any of the mayor’s powers and duties on the mayor 
pro tempore. When the mayor announces that he or she is no longer incapacitated, and a majority 
of the council concurs, the mayor shall resume the exercise of his or her powers and duties. 
 
(c) Duty to Vote. Even when presiding over a council meeting, the mayor pro tempore has the same 
duty as other members to vote on all questions unless he or she has been excused from voting on a 
matter in accordance with Rule 28. 
 
Rule 19. Other Presiding Officer 
If both the mayor and mayor pro tempore are absent, the council may elect from among its 
members a temporary presiding officer to chair the meeting. While serving as temporary presiding 
officer, a member has the powers listed in Rule 17(d). Service as a temporary presiding officer does 
not relieve a member of the duty to vote on all questions unless excused from voting pursuant to 
Rule 28. 
 
Rule 20. When the Presiding Officer Is Active in Debate 
If the mayor becomes active in debate on a particular proposal, he or she [may] [must] have the 
mayor pro tempore preside during the council’s consideration of the matter. If the mayor 
pro tempore is absent or is also actively debating the matter, the mayor [may] [must] designate 
another member to preside until the matter is concluded. Similarly, if the mayor pro tempore or a 
temporary presiding officer is presiding and takes an active part in debating a topic, he or she [may] 
[must] designate another council member to preside temporarily. 
 
 



Part VIII. Motions and Voting 
 
Rule 21. Action by the Council 
Except as otherwise provided in these rules, the council shall act by motion. Any member may make 
a motion, [not] including the mayor. 
 
Rule 22. Second Not Required 
No second is required on any motion. 
 
Rule 23. One Motion at a Time 
A member may make only one motion at a time. 
 
Rule 24. Withdrawal of Motion 
The member who introduces a motion may withdraw the motion unless the motion has been 
amended or the presiding officer has put the motion to a vote. 
 
Rule 25. Debate 
The presiding officer shall state the motion and then open the floor to debate, presiding over the 
debate according to the principles listed below. 
 

1. • The maker of the motion is entitled to speak first. 
2. • A member who has not spoken on the issue shall be recognized before a member 

who has already spoken. 
3. • To the extent practicable, the debate shall alternate between proponents and 

opponents of the measure. 
4. • [No member may speak more than twice on the same substantive motion. A 

member’s first speech on a substantive motion shall be limited to [10] minutes, and any 
second speech on the same motion shall be limited to [five] minutes. The same rules apply 
to debate on a procedural motion, except that a member’s first speech shall not exceed 
[five] minutes, and any second speech shall be limited to [two] minutes.] 
 

Rule 26. Adoption by Majority Vote 
A motion is adopted if supported by a simple majority of the votes cast, a quorum being present, 
except when a larger majority is required by these rules or state law. 
 
Rule 27. Changing a Vote 
A member may change his or her vote on a motion at any time before the presiding officer 
announces whether the motion has passed or failed. Once the presiding officer announces the 
result, a member may not change his or her vote without the unanimous consent of the remaining 
members present. A member’s request for unanimous consent to change a vote is not in order 
unless made immediately following the presiding officer’s announcement of the result. 
 
Rule 28. Duty to Vote 
(a) Duty to Vote. Every council member must vote except when excused from voting as provided by 
this rule. 
 
 



(b) Grounds for Excusal. A member may be excused from voting on a matter involving the member’s 
own financial interest or official conduct, though not if the proposal in question is one to alter the 
compensation or allowances paid to council members. Members may also be excused from voting 
when prohibited from voting under G.S. 14-234 (contract providing direct benefit to member), 
G.S. 160A-381(d) (legislative zoning decision likely to have a direct, substantial, and readily 
identifiable financial impact on member), or G.S. 160A-388(e)(2) (member’s participation in quasi-
judicial decision would violate affected person’s right to an impartial decision maker). [Questions 
about whether a basis for excusal exists should be directed to the city attorney.] 
 
(c) Procedure for Excusal. 

(1) At member’s request. Upon being recognized at a duly called meeting of the council, a 
member who wishes to be excused from voting shall so inform the presiding officer, who 
must then submit the matter to a vote of the remaining members present. If a majority of 
the remaining members present vote to excuse the member, the member is excused from 
voting on the matter. 

 
(2) On council’s initiative. Even when a member has not asked to be excused from voting on a 

matter, a majority of the remaining council members present may by motion and vote 
excuse the member from voting if grounds for doing so exist under paragraph (b). 

 
(d) Consequence of Non-Excused Failure to Vote. Except as specified in paragraph (e), if a member 
who has not been excused from voting fails to vote on a matter, the member’s failure to vote shall be 
recorded as an affirmative vote, provided 
 

(1) the member is physically present in the council chamber or 
 
(2) the member has physically withdrawn from the meeting without being excused by majority 

vote of the remaining members present. 
 

(e) Failure to Vote on Certain Zoning Matters. A member’s unexcused failure to vote shall not be 
recorded as an affirmative vote if the motion concerns a proposal to amend, supplement, or repeal a 
zoning ordinance. Instead, the member’s unexcused failure to vote shall be recorded as an 
abstention. 
 
(f) Mayor’s Duty to Vote. The provisions of this rule apply to the mayor. 
 
Rule 29. Voting by Written Ballot 
(a) Secret Ballots Prohibited. The council may not vote by secret ballot. 
 
(b) Rules for Written Ballots. The council may decide by majority vote or unanimous consent to vote 
on a motion by written ballot. Each member must sign his or her ballot, and the minutes must record 
how each member voted by name. The ballots must be made available for public inspection in the 
city clerk’s office immediately following the meeting at which the vote took place and remain there 
until the minutes of that meeting are approved, at which time the ballots may be destroyed. 
 
Rule 30. Substantive Motions 
A substantive motion is not in order if made while another motion is pending. Once the council 
disposes of a substantive motion, it may not take up a motion that presents essentially the same 



issue at the same meeting, unless it first adopts a motion to reconsider pursuant to Rule 31, 
Motion 14. 
 
Rule 31. Procedural Motions 
(a) Certain Motions Allowed. The council may consider only those procedural motions listed in this 
rule. Unless otherwise noted, each procedural motion may be debated and amended and requires a 
majority of votes cast, a quorum being present, for adoption. 
 
(b) Priority of Motions. The procedural motions set out in this paragraph are listed in order of 
priority. A procedural motion is not in order so long as another procedural motion of higher priority 
is pending, except that 
 
• • any procedural motion other than an appeal under Motion 1 is subject   
  to amendment as provided in Motion 12, and 
 
• •  a motion to call the question (end debate) may be made with regard to  
   any procedural motion in accordance with Motion 9. 

 
When several procedural motions are pending, voting must begin with the procedural motion 
highest in priority, provided that a motion to amend or end debate on the highest priority motion 
must be voted on first. 
 

Motion 1. To Appeal a Ruling of the Presiding Officer. Any member may appeal the 
presiding officer’s ruling on whether a motion is in order or on whether a speaker has 
violated reasonable standards of courtesy. The presiding officer’s response to a question 
of parliamentary procedure may also be appealed by any member. An appeal is in order 
immediately after the disputed ruling or parliamentary response and at no other time. 
The member who moves to appeal need not be recognized by the presiding officer, and if 
timely made, the motion may not be ruled out of order. 
 
Motion 2. To Adjourn. This motion may be used to close a meeting. It is not in order if the 
council is in closed session. 
 
Motion 3. To Recess to a Time and Place Certain. This motion may be used to call a 
recessed meeting as permitted under Rule 12. The motion must state the time (including 
the date, if the meeting will reconvene on a different day) and place at which the meeting 
will resume. The motion is not in order if the council is in closed session. 
 
Motion 4. To Take a Brief Recess. 
 
Motion 5. To Follow the Agenda. This motion must be made at the time an item of 
business that deviates from the agenda is proposed; otherwise, the motion is out of order 
as to that item. 
 
Motion 6. To Suspend the Rules. To be adopted, a motion to suspend the rules must 
receive affirmative votes equal to at least two-thirds of the council’s actual membership, 
excluding vacant seats and not counting the mayor if the mayor votes only in case of a tie. 
The council may not suspend provisions in these rules that are required under state law. 



 
Motion 7. To Divide a Complex Motion. This motion is in order whenever a member 
wishes to consider and vote on parts of a complex motion separately. The member who 
makes this motion must specify how the complex motion will be divided. 
 
Motion 8. To Defer Consideration. The council may defer its consideration of a 
substantive motion, and any proposed amendments thereto, to an unspecified time. A 
motion that has been deferred expires unless the council votes to revive it pursuant to 
Motion 13 within [100] days of deferral. A new motion having the same effect as a 
deferred motion may not be introduced until the latter has expired. 
 
Motion 9. To End Debate (Call the Previous Question). If adopted, this motion terminates 
debate on a pending motion, thereby bringing it to an immediate vote. This motion is not 
in order until every member has had an opportunity to speak once on the pending 
motion. 
 
Motion 10. To Postpone to a Certain Time. This motion may be employed to delay the 
council’s consideration of a substantive motion, and any proposed amendments thereto, 
until a designated day, meeting, or hour. During the period of postponement, the council 
may not take up a new motion raising essentially the same issue without first suspending 
its rules pursuant to Motion 6. 
 
Motion 11. To Refer a Motion to a Committee. The council may vote to refer a 
substantive motion to a committee for study and recommendations. While the 
substantive motion is pending before the committee, the council may not take up a new 
motion raising essentially the same issue without first suspending its rules pursuant to 
Motion 6. If the committee fails to report on the motion within [60] days of the referral 
date, the council must take up the motion if asked to do so by the member who 
introduced it. 
 
Motion 12. To Amend. 
(a) Germaneness. A motion to amend must concern the same subject matter as the 
motion it seeks to alter. 
 
(b) Limit on Number of Motions to Amend. When a motion to amend is under 
consideration, a motion to amend the amendment may be made; however, no more than 
one motion to amend and one motion to amend the amendment may be pending at the 
same time. 
 
(c) Amendments to Ordinances. Any amendment to a proposed ordinance must be 
reduced to writing before the vote on the amendment. 
 
Motion 13. To Revive Consideration. The council may vote to revive consideration of any 
substantive motion that has been deferred pursuant to Motion 8, provided it does so 
within [100] days of its vote to defer consideration. 
 
Motion 14. To Reconsider. The council may vote to reconsider its action on a matter, 
provided the motion to reconsider is made (a) at the same meeting during which the 



action to be reconsidered was taken and (b) by a member who voted with the prevailing 
side. For purposes of this motion, “the same meeting” includes any continuation of a 
meeting through a motion to recess to a certain time and place (Motion 3). The motion is 
not in order if it interrupts the council’s deliberation on a pending matter. 
 
Motion 15. To Rescind. The council may vote to rescind an action taken at a prior meeting 
provided rescission is not forbidden by law. 
 
Motion 16. To Prevent Reintroduction for [Six] Months. This motion may be used to 
prevent the reintroduction of a failed substantive motion for a time, but it is in order only 
when made immediately following the substantive motion’s defeat. To be adopted, this 
motion must receive votes equal to at least two-thirds of the council’s actual membership, 
excluding vacant seats and not counting the mayor, unless the mayor may vote on all 
questions. If this motion is adopted, the ban on reintroduction remains in effect for [six] 
months or until the council’s next organizational meeting, whichever occurs first. 

 
Part IX. Ordinances and Contracts 
 
Rule 32. Introduction of Ordinances 
For purposes of these rules, the “date of introduction” for a proposed ordinance is the date on which 
the council first votes on the proposed ordinance’s subject matter. [The council votes on the subject 
matter of a proposed ordinance when it votes on whether to adopt or make changes to the 
proposed ordinance.] 
 
Rule 33. Adoption, Amendment, and Repeal of Ordinances 
(a) Adoption of Ordinances. 
 

(1) Proposed ordinances to be in writing. No proposed ordinance shall be adopted unless it has 
been reduced to writing and distributed to members before a vote on adoption is taken. 

 
(2) Adoption on date of introduction. To be approved on the date of introduction, a proposed 

ordinance or any action having the effect of an ordinance must receive affirmative votes equal 
to at least two-thirds of the council’s actual membership, excluding vacant seats and not 
counting the mayor, unless the mayor has the right to vote on all questions before the council. 

 
(3) Adoption after date of introduction. To be approved after the date of introduction, a proposed 

ordinance or any action having the effect of an ordinance must receive affirmative votes equal 
to at least a majority of all council members not excused from voting on the matter. In 
calculating the number of affirmative votes necessary for approval, the council shall count the 
mayor if he or she votes on all questions. If the mayor votes only in the case of tie, the mayor’s 
vote counts if there is an equal division. 

 
(b) Amendment and Repeal of Ordinances. The same voting requirements that govern the adoption 
of proposed ordinances also apply to the amendment or repeal of an ordinance. 
 
 
 
 



Rule 34. Adoption of the Budget Ordinance 
(a) Special Rules for the Adoption or Amendment of the Budget Ordinance. Notwithstanding any 
provision in the city charter, general law, or local act, 
 

(1) the council may adopt or amend the budget ordinance at a regular or special meeting of the 
council by a simple majority of those members present and voting, a quorum being present; 

 
(2) no action taken with respect to the adoption or amendment of the budget ordinance need be 

published or is subject to any other procedural requirement governing the adoption of 
ordinances or resolutions by the council; and 

 
(3) the adoption or amendment of the budget ordinance and the levy of taxes in the budget 

ordinance are not subject to the provisions of any city charter or local act concerning initiative 
or referendum. 

 
(b) Notice Requirements for Budget Meetings. During the period beginning with the submission of 
the budget to the council and ending with the adoption of the budget ordinance, the council may 
hold any special meetings that may be necessary to complete its work on the budget ordinance. 
Except for the notice requirements of the open meetings law, which continue to apply, no provision 
of law concerning the call of special meetings applies during that period so long as 
 

• • each member of the board has actual notice of each special meeting called for the  
 purpose of considering the budget and 

• • no business other than consideration of the budget is taken up. 
 

(c) No Authority for Closed Sessions. This rule shall not be construed to authorize the council to 
hold closed sessions on any basis other than the grounds set out in Rule 5. 
 
Rule 35. Approval of Contracts and Authorization of Expenditures 
(a) Contracts to be in Writing. No contract shall be approved or ratified by the city council unless it 
has been reduced to writing at the time of the council’s vote. 
 
(b) Approval of Contracts. To be approved or ratified, a contract must receive affirmative votes equal 
to at least a majority of all council members not excused from voting on the contract, including the 
mayor’s vote in the event of a tie. 
 
(c) Authorization of Expenditure of Public Funds. The same vote necessary to approve or ratify a 
contract is required for the council to authorize the expenditure of public funds, except when the 
expenditure is authorized pursuant to Rule 34. 
 
Part X. Public Hearings and Comment Periods 
 
Rule 36. Public Hearings 
(a) Calling Public Hearings. In addition to holding public hearings required by law, the council may 
hold any public hearings it deems advisable. The council may schedule hearings or delegate that 
responsibility to city staff members, as appropriate, except when state law directs the council itself 
to call the hearing. If the council delegates scheduling authority, it must provide adequate guidance 
to assist staff members in exercising that authority. 



(b) Public Hearing Locations. Public hearings may be held anywhere within the city or within the 
county where the city is located. 
 
(c) Rules for Public Hearings. The council may adopt reasonable rules for public hearings that, 
among other things, 
 

• • fix the maximum time allotted to each speaker, 
• • provide for the designation of spokespersons for groups of persons supporting or  
  opposing the same positions, 

 • •  provide for the selection of delegates from groups of persons supporting or 
opposing the same positions when the number of persons wishing to attend the 
hearing exceeds the capacity of the hall (so long as arrangements are made, in the 
case of a hearing subject to the open meetings law, for those excluded from the 
hall to listen to the hearing), and 

• • provide for the maintenance of order and decorum in the conduct of the hearing. 
 

(d) Notice of Public Hearings. Any public hearing at which a majority of the council is present shall 
be considered part of a regular or special meeting. Consequently, the relevant notice and related 
requirements of the open meetings law, as set out in Rules 9 through 12, apply to such hearings. 
Some statutes mandate additional notice for particular types of hearings, and such notice must be 
provided together with notice of the meeting during which the hearing will take place. 
 
(e) Continuing Public Hearings. The council may continue any public hearing without further 
advertisement to a time and place certain, provided the time (including the date, if the hearing will 
resume on a different day) and place of the continued hearing are announced in open session. 
Except for hearings conducted pursuant to paragraph (g), if a quorum of the council is not present 
for a properly scheduled public hearing, the hearing must be continued until the council’s next 
regular meeting without further advertisement. 
 
(f) Conduct of Public Hearings. At the time appointed for the hearing, the mayor shall call the 
hearing to order and proceed to allow public input in accordance with any rules adopted by the 
council for the hearing. Unless the council extends the hearing, when the time allotted for the 
hearing expires, or when no one wishes to speak who has not done so, the mayor shall [declare the 
hearing closed] [entertain a motion to close the hearing], and the council shall resume the regular 
order of business. 
 
(g) Public Hearings by Less Than a Majority of Council Members. Nothing in this rule prevents the 
council from appointing a member or members to hold a public hearing on the council’s behalf, 
except when state law requires that the council itself conduct the hearing. 
 
 
Rule 37. Public Comment Periods 
(a) Frequency of Public Comment Periods. The council must provide at least one opportunity for 
public comment each month at a regular meeting, except that the council need not offer a public 
comment period during any month in which it does not hold a regular meeting. 
 
(b) Rules for Public Comment Periods. The council may adopt reasonable rules for public comment 
periods that, among other things, 



 
• • fix the maximum time allotted to each speaker, 

 • •  provide for the designation of spokespersons for groups supporting or opposing the 
same positions, 

 • • provide for the selection of delegates from groups supporting or opposing the same 
positions when the number of persons wishing to attend the public comment period 
exceeds the capacity of the hall (so long as arrangements are made for those 
excluded from the hall to listen to the hearing), and 

• • provide for the maintenance of order and decorum in the conduct of the hearing. 
 

(c) Content-Based Restrictions Generally Prohibited. The council may not restrict speakers based on 
subject matter, as long as their comments pertain to subjects within the council’s real or apparent 
jurisdiction. 
 
Part XI. Appointments and Appointed Bodies 
 
Rule 38. Appointments 
(a) Appointments in Open Session. The council must consider and make any appointment to 
another body or, in the event of a vacancy on the council, to its own membership in open session. 
 
(b) Nomination and Voting Procedure. The council shall use the following procedure to fill a vacancy 
in the council itself or in any other body over which it has the power of appointment. [The 
nominating committee shall be called upon to make its report and recommendation(s), if any.] The 
mayor shall [then] open the floor for nominations, whereupon council members may put forward 
and debate nominees. When debate ends, the mayor shall call the roll of the members, and each 
member shall cast a vote for his or her preferred nominee. The voting shall continue until a nominee 
receives a majority of votes cast during a single balloting. 
 
(c) Mayor. The mayor may [not] make nominations [or][and] vote on appointments under this rule. 
 
(d) Multiple Appointments. If the council is filling more than one vacancy, each member shall have 
as many votes in each balloting as there are slots to be filled, and the votes of a majority of the total 
number of members voting shall be required for each appointment. No member may cast more than 
one vote for the same candidate for the same vacancy during a single balloting. 
 
(e) Duty to Vote. It is the duty of each member to vote for as many appointees as there are 
appointments to be made, but failure to do so shall not invalidate a member’s ballot. 
 
(f) Vote by Written Ballot. The council may vote on proposed appointments by written ballot in 
accordance with Rule 29. 
Rule 39. Committees and Boards 
(a) Establishment and Appointment. The council may establish temporary and standing committees, 
boards, and other bodies to help carry on the work of city government. Unless otherwise provided 
by law or the council, the power of appointment to such bodies lies with the council. 
 
(b) Open Meetings Law. The requirements of the open meetings law apply whenever a majority of 
an appointed body’s members gather in person or simultaneously by electronic means to discuss or 
conduct official business. They do not apply to meetings solely among the city’s professional staff. 



 
(c) Procedural Rules. The council may prescribe the procedures by which the city’s appointed bodies 
operate, subject to any statutory provisions applicable to particular bodies. [In the absence of rules 
adopted by the council, an appointed body may promulgate its own procedural rules, so long as they 
are in keeping with any relevant statutory provisions and generally accepted principles of 
parliamentary procedure.] 
 
Part XII. Miscellaneous 
 
Rule 40. Amendment of the Rules 
These rules may be amended at any regular meeting or at any properly called special meeting for 
which amendment of the rules is one of the meeting’s stated purposes. Any amendment to these 
rules must be consistent with the city charter, any relevant statutes, and generally accepted 
principles of parliamentary procedure. To be adopted, a motion to amend these rules must be 
approved by a majority of the council’s members, excluding vacant seats and counting the mayor 
only if the mayor may vote on all questions. 
 
Rule 41. Reference to Robert’s Rules of Order Newly Revised 
The council shall refer to Robert’s Rules of Order Newly Revised for guidance when confronted with a 
procedural issue not covered by these rules or state law. Having consulted Robert’s, the mayor shall 
make a ruling on the issue subject to appeal to the council under Rule 31, Motion 1. 
 
Adopted this 12th day of August 2019. 
 
 
___________________________________ 
James E. Blake, Mayor 
 
 
 
 

___________________________________ 
Laura B. Morton, CMC, NCCMC 

Town Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 Attachment #2 
    PERSONAL PROPERTY DISPOSITION POLICY 

 
PROCEDURE PURPOSE:  
To provide a standard procedure for declaring personal property as surplus and disposing of surplus 
personal property in such a manner as to secure the highest dollar value to the Town of Biscoe.  
 
POLICY:  
The purpose of this policy is to dispose of personal property in accordance with North Carolina 
General Statutes Chapter 160A, Article 12. To prevent conflicts of interest, the Town of Biscoe 
prohibits the disposition of any surplus property to Council members, as well as any other officials or 
employees actively involved in the decision-making process for the disposition of the asset. The 
prohibition also extends to the immediate families of the Council members as well as the family 
members of the affected officials and employees.  
 
OVERVIEW:  
To establish the procedures to notify the Town of Biscoe Manager when personal property is no 
longer of use in the daily operations of the Town of Biscoe and to establish the steps that are 
involved in the processing of the disposition of any such personal property. 
 
PROCEDURES:  
Issuance of Request to Surplus Personal Property  
For any furniture, fixture, equipment or vehicle that is no longer of use in the daily operations of the 
Town of Biscoe, the department head or designee that has budget responsibility for the property 
should request that the Town of Biscoe Manager approve that the personal property be disposed of 
by completing a Request To Surplus Personal Property form. The requisition should describe the 
surplus item (including the year, make and model), the VIN or Serial number, the mileage if the 
surplus property is a vehicle, and the class code. If there is additional information that would be 
beneficial to obtaining the highest value for the Town of Biscoe, then that information should be 
noted in the comments/special considerations section of the form. This includes optional equipment 
on vehicles such as air conditioning, power windows and door locks, tilt wheel, etc.  
 
SURPLUS PERSONAL PROPERTY INFORMATION  
A Surplus Personal Property Information Sheet will be used to: 

 describe the property available for sale or exchange,  
 indicate whether or not a bid was accepted,  
 to whom it was sold, or with whom exchanged,  
 and the amount of money or other consideration received for each sale or exchange.  

 
The information sheet should include: 

 the property description and the VIN or Serial number (both matching the requisition),  
 the placed in-service date,  
 the net book value and the estimated fair market value.  

 
(Surplus Personal Property Information Sheet is attached) 
 
 



Because it is generally unconstitutional for a local government to dispose of property for less than 
its fair market value, for items not sold at public auction, the Town Clerk should determine the 
estimated fair market value by using the most independent and verifiable means available. Support 
for determining the fair market value should be attached to the surplus personal property 
information sheet. For items sold at public auction, the final sale price is considered the market 
value of the item sold.  
 
Special consideration must be given to property that was acquired with Grant proceeds. First, the 
Town Clerk should determine whether or not the property was purchased with Grant proceeds. If it 
was, then the Town Clerk should determine whether or not the Grant specifies that any funds 
recouped from its disposition must be returned to the Grantor Agency. If both of these conditions 
exist, the Town Clerk should mark the “Yes” box on the Surplus Personal Property Information Sheet 
or otherwise mark “No”.  
 
At least annually, the Town of Biscoe will offer the surplus personal property for sale according to 
the guidelines and limitations for the sale and disposition of personal property as described in G.S. 
Chapter 160A, Article 12. 
  
Ten (10) days prior to the offer to sale date, the Town Clerk will notify all Department Heads of the 
details of the surplus property that is available for sale so that if necessary, they can claim the 
property for use in their department. All surplus property remaining unclaimed after the ten days 
will be included in the offer to sale.  
 
METHODS OF SALE  
The Town of Biscoe adheres to the guidelines and limitations for the sale and disposition of personal 
property as described in G.S. Chapter 160A, Article 12. Subject to certain limitations the Town of 
Biscoe may dispose of personal property by:  
 

(1)  Private negotiation and sale;  
(2)  Advertisement for sealed bids;  
(3)  Negotiated offer, advertisement, and upset bid;  
(4)  Public auction (including electronic auction); or  
(5)  Exchange  

 
Private negotiation and sale may be used only with respect to personal property valued at less than 
thirty thousand dollars ($30,000) for any one item or group of similar items. Personal Property 
valued at thirty thousand dollars ($30,000) or more for any one item or group of similar items may 
be exchanged by private negotiation if the Town of Biscoe receives a full and fair consideration in 
exchange for its property, or may be sold by any method documented above other than private 
negotiation and sale, except as permitted in G.S. 160A-277 and G. S. 160A-279.  
 
This policy authorizes the Town of Biscoe Manager to declare surplus any property valued at less 
than ten thousand dollars ($10,000) for any one item or group of items, to set its fair market value, 
and to convey title to the property for the Town of Biscoe in accord with the regulations. The 
completion of the request to surplus personal property and the surplus personal property 
information sheet is intended to assure compliance with this policy. 
 



For disposing of personal property valued at ten thousand dollars ($10,000) or more for any one 
item or group of items, the Town of Biscoe Council shall at a regular council meeting adopt a 
resolution authorizing the Town of Biscoe Manager to dispose of the property by one of the 
methods of sale noted above which is permitted in G.S. 160A-266(a). A notice summarizing the 
contents of the resolution shall be published once after its adoption, and no sale shall be 
consummated thereunder until 10 days after its publication.  
 
NOTICE OF SALE  
At least annually the Town Clerk will identify the personal property items that are available for sale 
and initiate the process to dispose of any such surplus personal property by any means which he or 
she judges reasonably calculated to yield the highest attainable sale price in money or other 
consideration, including but not limited to the methods of sale provided in Article 12 of N.C. General 
Statutes Chapter 160A. For items offered by public notice, the notice should describe the property, 
include an “as is” clause, and provide the location for inspection. The notice should also provide 
instructions for the bid submission including the deadline, method of bidding (i.e. in person, by mail, 
fax or phone), and the name and contact information for bid submission. Bids may be accepted at 
any time after the notice of sale is published. However, the personal property may not be sold 
sooner than 10 days after the notice has been published. In computing the 10 days, the Town Clerk 
should not count the day of publication but should compute the last day of the required waiting 
period. If the last day is a Saturday, Sunday or holiday, it is not counted, and the time period ends at 
the end of the next day that is not a Saturday, Sunday or holiday.  
 
PROCESSING PUBLISHED BIDS  
For surplus property valued at less than ten thousand dollars ($10,000) for any one item or group of 
items. All bids will be reviewed by the Town Clerk. If accepted, the Town Clerk will note the 
successful bidder’s name on the information sheet, notify them that they are the successful bidder 
and arrange for pickup of the personal property. The procedures as outlined in the terms and 
conditions of sale should be followed by the Town Clerk to complete the sale process. The Town of 
Biscoe Manager or his designee’s signature should be obtained on any applicable title documents at 
the time of payment in full.  
 
After obtaining the signed title documents, the Town Clerk should attach a copy of the signed title 
document to the surplus personal property information sheet and enter the sale of the personal 
property in the fixed asset system, stamp the surplus personal property information sheet posted 
and file. All records should be retained for a minimum of three (3) years from the date of the sale, as 
evidenced by the date on the cash receipt voucher or check.  
 
Once posted, if the sold personal property was originally purchased with Grant proceeds and the 
Grant specified that any proceeds received upon disposition of the property must be returned to the 
Grantor Agency. The Town Clerk should prepare a disbursement payable to the Grantor for the 
amount of the sale.  
 
If the highest bid is less than the estimated fair market value, the Town Clerk may reject the offer. If 
the highest offer is rejected by the Town Clerk or no offers are received for the property, the surplus 
property may be retained for future sale, disposed of to obtain any reasonably available salvage 
value, or disposed of as waste material. No surplus property may be donated to any individual or 
organization except as allowed by the G.S. and approved by resolution of the Town of Biscoe 
Council.  



For surplus property valued at ten thousand dollars ($10,000) or more for any one item or group of 
items, bids will be processed in compliance with General Statute Chapter 160A, Article 12 applicable 
to the method of sale.  
 
This document replaces all previous versions of this policy in their entirety. 
 
Approved this ______________, of _______________ 2019. 
 

________________________________ 
James E. Blake, Mayor 

Attest: 
 
________________________________ 
Laura B. Morton, Town Clerk  
 

Town of Biscoe 
Surplus Personal Property Information Sheet 

 
As provided in the Town of Biscoe’s Personal Property Disposition Policy the following are specifics 

on individual items to be sold at Surplus. 
 

Approved by the Town Manager and/or Town Council on 
_____________________________________ 

 
Description of Property Available 

Property Description (VIN or SN): 

Placed In Service: _______________           Placed Out of Service ____________ 

Net Book Value or Estimated Fair Market Value: _________________________ 

Was Property Purchased Thru Grant Funding?   Yes       No 
If Yes, which granting agency: ___________________________________ 
Note: If it was purchased through grant funding it must be returned to the Grantor Agency. 

 
Surplus Bids Received & Bid Amount  

Name Of Bidder Amount Of Bid 
  

 

 
Bid Award Information  

Winner of Bid & Contact Information Amount Of Bid 
  

Was is Sold Or Exchanged?                    Sold?           Exchanged? 



Attachment #3 
 

TOWN OF BISCOE 
NORTH CAROLINA 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Personnel Policy 



  

TOWN OF BISCOE PERSONNEL 
POLICY 

 
 
 
 

BE IT RESOLVED by the Town Board of the Town of Biscoe that the following policies apply to the 
appointment, classification, benefits, salary, promotion, demotion, dismissal, and conditions of 
employment of the employees of the Town of Biscoe. 

 
 
 
 
 

Adopted November 14, 2016 
Amended September 9, 2019 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

*The contents of this employee copy vary in font and format from the original text adopted by the Town 
Board. 



  

Table of Contents 
 

ARTICLE I. GENERAL PROVISIONS  
Section 1.  Purpose of the Chapter .............................................................................................................. 5 
Section 2.  At Will Employment ................................................................................................................... 5 
Section 3.  Merit Principles .......................................................................................................................... 5 
Section 4.  Responsibilities of the Town Board ............................................................................................ 5 
Section 5.  Responsibilities of the Town Manager ....................................................................................... 6 
Section 6.  Application of Policies, Plan, Rules, and Regulations ................................................................. 7 
Section 7.  Departmental Rules and Regulations ......................................................................................... 7 
Section 8. Definitions ................................................................................................................................... 7 
ARTICLE II.  POSITION CLASSIFICATION PLAN  
Section 1. Purpose  ...................................................................................................................................... 9 
Section 2.  Composition of the Position Classification Plan ......................................................................... 9 
Section 3.  Use of the Position Classification Plan ....................................................................................... 9 
Section 4.  Administration of the Position Classification Plan ...................................................................10 
Section 5.  Adoption of the Position Classification Plan ............................................................................10 
Section 6.  Request for Reclassification .....................................................................................................10 
ARTICLE III.  THE PAY PLAN  
Section 1. Definition ...................................................................................................................................11 
Section 2.  Administration and Maintenance ............................................................................................11 
Section 3.  Cost of Living Adjustments .......................................................................................................11 
Section 4.  Starting Salaries ........................................................................................................................12 
Section 5.  Trainee Designation and Provisions .........................................................................................12 
Section 6.  Probationary Pay Increases ......................................................................................................12 
Section 7.  Merit Pay ..................................................................................................................................13 
Section 8.  Merit Pay Bonus .......................................................................................................................13 
Section 9.  Promotions, Demotions, Transfers, and Reclassifications .......................................................13 
Section 10.  Salary Effect of Salary Range Revisions ..................................................................................14 
Section 11.  Transition to a New Salary Plan ..............................................................................................14 
Section 12.  Effective Date of Salary Changes ............................................................................................14 
Section 13.  Overtime Pay Provisions.........................................................................................................14 
Section 14.  Call-Back and Stand-By Pay ....................................................................................................15 
Section 15. Payroll Deduction ...................................................................................................................16 
Section 16. Direct Deposit Required ..........................................................................................................16 
Section 17.  Hourly Rate of Pay ..................................................................................................................16 
Section 18. Longevity Pay .........................................................................................................................16 
ARTICLE IV.  RECRUITMENT AND EMPLOYMENT  
Section 1.  Equal Employment Opportunity Policy ....................................................................................19 
Section 2.  Implementation of Equal Employment Opportunity Policy .....................................................19 
Section 3.  Recruitment, Selection and Appointment ...............................................................................19 
Section 4.  Probationary Period .................................................................................................................20 
Section 5. Promotion .................................................................................................................................21 
Section 6. Demotion...................................................................................................................................21 
Section 7. Transfer  ....................................................................................................................................21 
ARTICLE V.  CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT   
Section 1. Work Schedule .........................................................................................................................22 
Section 2.  Political Activity ........................................................................................................................22 
Section 3. Outside Employment .................................................................................................................23 



 
 

Section 4.  Employment of Relatives .........................................................................................................23 
Section 5. Harassment ...............................................................................................................................23 
Section 6.  Acceptance of Gifts and Favors ................................................................................................24 
Section 7.  Performance Evaluation ...........................................................................................................24 
Section 8. Safety  ....................................................................................................................................24 
Section 9. Reporting Personal Injuries .......................................................................................................25 
Section 10.  Reporting Accidents Involving Town Property/Equipment ....................................................25 
Section 11.  Immigration Law Requirements .............................................................................................25 
Section 12.  Use of Town Owned Vehicles .................................................................................................25 
Section 13. Post-Accident Testing ..............................................................................................................26 
Section 14. Uniforms ..................................................................................................................................26 
ARTICLE VI. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS      
Section 1. Eligibility  ....................................................................................................................................27 
Section 2.  Group Health, Hospitalization, Vision and Dental Insurance ...................................................27 
Section 3.  Life and Disability Insurance .....................................................................................................27 
Section 4.  Other Optional Group Insurance Plans ....................................................................................27 
Section 5. Retirement ................................................................................................................................27 
Section 6.  Supplemental Retirement Benefits (401-K) .............................................................................27 
Section 7.  Social Security ..........................................................................................................................28 
Section 8. Workers' Compensation ...........................................................................................................28 
Section 9.  Unemployment Compensation ................................................................................................28 
Section 10.  Education Assistance Program ...............................................................................................29 
Section 11.  Flexible Benefits Plan (125 Plan) ............................................................................................29 
ARTICLE VII.  HOLIDAYS AND LEAVES OF ABSENCE  
Section 1. Policy  ....................................................................................................................................30 
Section 2.  Leave Pro-rated ........................................................................................................................30 
Section 3. Holidays  ....................................................................................................................................31 
Section 4.  Holidays: Effect on Other Types of Leave ................................................................................31 
Section 5.  Holidays: Compensation for Shift Personnel ............................................................................31 
Section 6.  Annual Leave ............................................................................................................................32 
Section 7.  Annual Leave: Use by Probationary Employees .......................................................................32 
Section 8.  Annual Leave: Accrual Rate ......................................................................................................33 
Section 9.  Annual Leave: Maximum Accumulation ..................................................................................33 
Section 10.  Annual Leave:  Manner of Taking ...........................................................................................33 
Section 11.  Annual Leave:  Payment upon Separation .............................................................................34 
Section 12.  Annual Leave:  Payment Upon Death ....................................................................................34 
Section 13. Sick Leave ...............................................................................................................................35 
Section 14.  Sick Leave: Accrual Rate and Accumulation ...........................................................................35 
Section 15.  Sick Leave:  Medical Certification ...........................................................................................36 
Section 16.  Leave Without Pay .................................................................................................................37 
Section 17. Leave Sharing ..........................................................................................................................37 
Section 18.  Workers' Compensation Leave ...............................................................................................38 
Section 19. Military Leave .........................................................................................................................38 
Section 20.  Reinstatement Following Military Service. ............................................................................39 
Section 21. Civil Leave ...............................................................................................................................39 
Section 22. Hazardous Weather Conditions ..............................................................................................39 
Section 23. Funeral Leave ..........................................................................................................................40 
Section 24. Petty Leave/Community Service Leave ...................................................................................40 
Section 25.  Family and Medical Leave ......................................................................................................41 
Section 26.  Medical & Family Leave – Certification ..................................................................................44 



 
 

Section 27.  FMLA & Leave Without Pay: Retention & Benefit Continuation ............................................44 
Section 28. Bereavement Leave .................................................................................................................45 
ARTICLE VIII.  SEPARATION AND REINSTATEMENT   
Section 1.  Types of Separations ................................................................................................................46 
Section 2. Resignation ................................................................................................................................46 
Section 3.  Reduction in Force....................................................................................................................46 
Section 4. Disability  ....................................................................................................................................46 
Section 5.  Voluntary Retirement ...............................................................................................................46 
Section 6. Death  ....................................................................................................................................47 
Section 7. Dismissal  ....................................................................................................................................47 
Section 8. Reinstatement ...........................................................................................................................47 
Section 9. Rehiring  ....................................................................................................................................47 
ARTICLE IX.  UNSATISFACTORY JOB PERFORMANCE  
AND DETRIMENTAL PERSONAL CONDUCT  
Section 1.  Disciplinary Action for Unsatisfactory Job Performance ..........................................................48 
Section 2.  Unsatisfactory Job Performance Defined.................................................................................48 
Section 3.  Communication and Warning Procedures ...............................................................................49 
Section 4.  Disciplinary Action for Detrimental Personal Conduct.............................................................49 
Section 5.  Detrimental Personal Conduct Defined ...................................................................................50 
Section 6.  Disciplinary Conference ............................................................................................................51 
Section 7.  Non-Disciplinary Suspension ....................................................................................................51 
ARTICLE X.  GRIEVANCE & WHISTLE BLOWING PROCEDURE  
Section 1. Policy  ....................................................................................................................................52 
Section 2. Grievance Defined ....................................................................................................................52 
Section 3.  Purposes of the Grievance Procedure......................................................................................52 
Section 4. Procedure ..................................................................................................................................53 
Section 5.  Grievance & Appeal Procedure for Discrimination ..................................................................54 
Section 6.  Back Pay Awards.......................................................................................................................54 
Section 7.  Employee Representation ........................................................................................................54 
Section 8. Whistle Blowing Procedure & Protection .................................................................................55 
ARTICLE XI.  PERSONNEL RECORDS AND REPORTS  
Section 1.  Public Information ....................................................................................................................56 
Section 2.  Access to Confidential Records ................................................................................................56 
Section 3.  Personnel Actions .....................................................................................................................57 
Section 4.  Records of Former Employees .................................................................................................57 
Section 5.  Remedies of Employees Objecting to Material in File .............................................................57 
Section 6.  Penalties for Permitting Access to Confidential Records .........................................................57 
Section 7.  Examining or Copying Material Without Authorization ...........................................................58 
Section 8.  Destruction of Records Regulated ...........................................................................................58 
ARTICLE XII.  IMPLEMENTATION OF POLICIES  
Section 1.   Conflicting Policies Repealed...................................................................................................59 
Section 2.   Separability ..............................................................................................................................59 
Section 3.  Effective Date ..........................................................................................................................59 



 

ARTICLE I. GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
Section 1. Purpose of the Chapter 
It is the purpose of this policy and the rules and regulations set forth to establish a fair and uniform 
system of personnel administration for all employees of the Town under the supervision of the Town 
Manager. This policy is established under authority of Chapter 160A, Article 7, of the General Statutes of 
North Carolina. 
Section 2. At Will Employment 
The Town of Biscoe is an “at will” employer. Nothing in this policy creates an employment contract or term 
between the Town and its employees. No person has the authority to grant any employee any 
contractual rights of employment. 
 
Section 3. Merit Principles 
All appointments and promotions shall be made solely on the basis of merit. All positions requiring the 
performance of the same duties and fulfillment of the same responsibilities shall be assigned to the 
same class and the same salary range. No applicant for employment or employee shall be deprived of 
employment opportunities or otherwise adversely affected as an employee because of such individual’s 
race, color, religion, sex, national origin, political affiliation, non-disqualifying disability or age. 
 
Section 4. Responsibilities of the Town Board 
The Town Board shall be responsible for establishing and approving personnel policies, the position 
classification and pay plan, and it may change the policies and benefits as necessary. The Board also shall 
make and confirm appointments when so specified by the general statutes. 



 

Section 5. Responsibilities of the Town Manager 
The Town Manager shall be responsible to the Town Board for the administration and technical direction 
of the personnel program. The Town Manager shall appoint, suspend, and remove all Town officers and 
employees except those elected by the people or whose appointment is otherwise provided for by law. 
The Town Manager shall ensure that all appointments, dismissals and suspensions are made in 
accordance with the Town Charter and other policies and procedures spelled out in other Articles in this 
Chapter. 
 
 
The Town Manager shall: 

a) Recommend rules and revisions to the personnel system to the Town Board for consideration; 
b) Make changes as necessary to maintain an up to date and accurate position classification 

system; 
 

c) Prepare and recommend revisions to the pay plan to the Town Board for approval; 
 

d) Determine which employees shall be subject to the overtime provisions of Fair Labor 
Standards Act; 

 
e) Establish and maintain a roster of all persons and authorized positions in the municipal service, 

setting forth each position and employee, class title of position, salary, any changes in class 
title and status, and such data as may be desirable or useful; 

 
f) Develop and administer such recruiting and retention programs as may be necessary to obtain 

and retain an adequate supply of competent employees to meet the needs of the Town; 
 

g) Develop and coordinate training and educational programs for Town employees; 
 

h) Investigate periodically the operation and effect of the personnel provisions of this chapter; and 
 

i) Perform such other duties as may be assigned by the Town Board not inconsistent with this 
Chapter. 



 

Section 6. Application of Policies, Plan, Rules, and Regulations 
The personnel policy and all rules and regulations adopted pursuant thereto shall be binding on all Town 
employees. The Town Manager, Town Attorney, members of the Town Board and advisory boards and 
commissions will be exempted except in sections where specifically included. An employee violating any 
of the provisions of this policy shall be subject to appropriate disciplinary action, as well as prosecution 
under any civil or criminal laws which have been violated. 
 
Section 7. Departmental Rules and Regulations 
Due to the personnel and operational requirements of the various departments of the Town, each 
department is authorized to establish supplemental rules and regulations applicable only to the 
personnel of that department. All such rules and regulations shall be subject to the approval of the Town 
Manager, and shall not in any way conflict with the provisions of this Policy, but shall be considered as a 
supplement to this Chapter. If a conflict arises, the provisions of this Policy shall be followed. 
 
Section 8. Definitions 
For the purposes of this chapter, the following words and phrases shall have the meanings respectively 
ascribed to them by this section: 
 
Full-time employee: An employee who is in a position for which an average work week equals at least 40 
hours, and continuous employment of at least 12 months, is required by the Town. 
 
Part-time employee: An employee who is in a position for which an average work week of at least 20 
hours and less than 40 hours and continuous employment of at least 12 months is required by the Town. 
 
Regular employee: An employee appointed to a full or part-time position who has successfully 
completed the designated probationary period. 
 
Probationary employee: An employee appointed to a full or part-time position who has not yet 
successfully completed the designated probationary period. 
 
Temporary employee: An employee appointed to a position for which either the average work week 
required by the Town over the course of a year is less than 20 hours, or continuous employment 
required by the Town is less than 12 months. 
 
Trainee: An employee status when an applicant is hired (or employee promoted) who does not meet all 
of the requirements for the position. During the duration of a trainee appointment, the employee is on 
probationary status. 
 
Contractual: Employees hired by means of a contract to accomplish a specific job in a specified time 
frame. These employees are not entitled to any of the available benefits. 



 

ARTICLE II. POSITION CLASSIFICATION PLAN 
(Effective July 1, 2017) 

 
Section 1. Purpose 
The position classification plan provides a complete inventory of all authorized and permanent positions 
in the Town service, and an accurate description and specification for each class of employment. The plan 
standardizes job titles, each of which is indicative of a definite range of duties and responsibilities. 
 
Section 2. Composition of the Position Classification Plan 
 
The classification plan shall consist of: 
 
a) A grouping of positions in classes which are approximately equal in difficulty and responsibility 

which call for the same general qualifications, and which can be equitably compensated within the 
same range of pay under similar working conditions; 

b) class titles descriptive of the work of the class; 
c) written specifications for each class of positions; and 

 
d) An allocation list showing the class title of each position in the classified service. 

 
 
Section 3. Use of the Position Classification Plan 
The classification plan is to be used: 
 
a) As a guide in recruiting and examining applicants for employment; 
b) In determining lines of promotion and in developing employee training programs; 
c) In determining salary to be paid for various types of work; 
d) In determining personnel service items in departmental budgets; and 
e) In providing uniform job terminology. 



 

Section 4. Administration of the Position Classification Plan 
The Town Manager shall allocate each position covered by the classification plan to its appropriate class, 
and shall be responsible for the administration of the position classification plan. The Town Manager 
shall periodically review portions of the classification plan and make minor revisions to ensure that 
classifications accurately reflect current job duties and responsibilities. The Town Manager shall also 
periodically review the entire classification plan and, when needed, recommend major changes to the 
Town Board. 
 
Section 5. Adoption of the Position Classification Plan 
The position classification plan shall be adopted by the Town Board and shall be on file with the Town 
Manager and Town Clerk. Copies shall be available to Town employees for review upon request. New 
positions shall be established upon recommendation of the Town Manager and approval of the Town 
Board after which the Town Manager shall either allocate the new position into the appropriate existing 
class, or amend the position classification plan to establish a new class to which the new position may be 
allocated. 
 
Section 6. Request for Reclassification 
Any employee who considers the classification of position which he/she occupies to be improper shall 
submit a request in writing for reclassification to such employee's immediate supervisor, who shall 
immediately transmit the request to the Town Manager. Upon receipt of such request, the Town 
Manager shall study the request, determine the merit of the reclassification, and forward the 
recommendation to the Town Board for consideration. 



 

ARTICLE III. THE PAY PLAN 
(Effective July 1, 2017) 

 
 
Section 1. Definition 
The pay plan includes the basic Salary Schedule and the "Assignment of Classes to Salary Grades and 
Ranges" adopted by the Town Board. The salary schedule consists of a minimum and maximum salary 
for each job classification approved by the Town Board. Salary increases within the pay range shall be 
based on criteria established by the Town Manager and approved by the Town Board. 
 
Section 2. Administration and Maintenance 
The Town Manager shall be responsible for the administration and maintenance of the pay plan. All 
employees covered by the pay plan shall be paid at a rate listed within the salary range established for 
the respective position classification, except for employees in trainee status or employees whose existing 
salaries are above the established maximum rate following transition to a new pay plan. 
 
The pay plan is intended to provide equitable compensation for all positions, reflecting differences in the 
duties and responsibilities, the comparable rates of pay for positions in public employment in the area, 
changes in the cost of living, the financial conditions of the Town, and other factors. To this end, from 
time to time the Town Manager shall make comparative studies of all factors affecting the level of salary 
ranges and may make minor adjustments in the allocation of positions to salary grades. When major 
adjustments encompassing numerous positions are needed, or when a general adjustment is needed to 
the pay plan, the Town Manager shall recommend such changes in salary ranges as appear to be 
warranted to the Town Board. The Town Board shall adopt the "Assignment of Classes to Salary Grades 
and Ranges," including any minor adjustments made by the Town Manager during the previous budget 
year, annually as part of the budget process. 
 
Section 3. Cost of Living Adjustments 
Annually the Town Board will consider and adjust the Town's pay plan in accordance with the amount of 
consumer price index, depending on the availability of funds. The salary schedule will be adjusted by the 
approved cost of living increase. Employees' salaries will be adjusted by the amount of the approved pay 
plan adjustment for the cost of living. 
 
Section 4. Starting Salaries 
All persons employed in positions approved in the position classification plan normally shall be employed 
at the minimum salary for the classification in which they are employed; however, on the recommendation 
of the Department Head, and support of the Town Manager, employee salaries may be approved above 
the minimum. Reasons for hiring above the minimum include education and experience qualifications of 
the applicant, a shortage of qualified applicants, and the refusal of qualified applicants to accept 
employment at the minimum. Pay for part-time or temporary status will be paid a prorated amount 
determined by converting the established salary range to an hourly rate. 
 
Section 5. Trainee Designation and Provisions 
Applicants being considered for employment or Town employees who do not meet all of the 
requirements for the position for which they are being considered may be hired, promoted, demoted, or 
transferred by the Town Manager to a "trainee" status. In such cases, a plan for training, including a time 
schedule, must be prepared by the Department Head or Town Manger. An employee shall remain at the 
trainee salary level until the Department Head certifies that the trainee is qualified to assume full 
responsibilities of the position and the Town Manager approves the certifications. The Department Head 



 

shall review the progress of each employee in a trainee status every six months or more frequently as 
necessary to determine when the trainee is qualified to assume full responsibilities of the position. 
"Trainee" salaries may be no more than two grades below the minimum salary established for the 
position for which the person is being trained. A new employee designated as "trainee" shall be 
regarded as a probationary employee. 
 
If the training is not successfully completed as planned, the trainee shall be transferred, demoted, or 
dismissed. If the training is successfully completed, the employee shall be paid at least at the minimum 
rate established for the position for which the employee was trained. 
 
Section 6. Probationary Pay Increases 
Employees hired or promoted into the Minimum Rate of the pay range shall receive a salary increase 
within the salary range upon successful completion of the probationary period. Employees serving a 
twelve month probationary period are eligible for consideration for this pay increase after six months of 
successful employment. 
 
Section 7. Merit Pay 
Annually the Town Board will consider funding a system of Merit Pay proposed by the Town Manager. 
Upward movement within the established salary range for an employee is not automatic but rather 
based on specific performance related reasons. Employees may be considered for advancement within 
the established salary range based on the quality of their overall performance on an annual basis. 
Procedures for determining performance levels and performance pay increases shall be established in 
procedures approved by the Town Manager. 
 
Section 8. Merit Pay Bonus 
When funded by the Town Board, employees who are at the top step of the salary range for their 
position classification are eligible to be considered for a merit bonus at their regular performance 
evaluation time. Merit bonuses shall be awarded based upon the performance of the employee as 
described in the performance evaluation and shall be the same percentage of annual salary as employees 
within the salary range with the same performance level. Merit bonuses do not become part of the base 
pay and shall be awarded in a lump sum payment. 
 
Section 9. Promotions, Demotions, Transfers, and Reclassifications 
Promotions. When an employee is promoted, the employee's salary shall normally be advanced to the 
minimum level of the new position, or to a salary which provides an increase of at least approximately 
5% over the employee's salary before the promotion, provided, however, that the new salary may not 
exceed the maximum rate of the new salary range. The purpose of the promotion pay increase is to 
recognize and compensate the employee for taking on increased responsibility. 
 
Demotions. When an employee is demoted to a position for which qualified, the salary shall be set at 
the rate in the lower pay range which provides the smallest decrease in pay if action is not for cause. If 
the current salary is within the new range, the employee's salary may be retained at the previous rate. If 
the demotion is for cause, the salary shall be decreased at least approximately 5%, or to the maximum of 
the new range. 
 
Transfers. The salary of an employee reassigned to a position in the same class or to a position in a 
different class within the same salary grade shall not be changed by the reassignment. 
 



 

Reclassifications. An employee whose position is reclassified to a class having a higher salary range shall 
receive a pay increase of approximately 5% or an increase to the minimum of the new pay range, 
whichever is higher. If the position is reclassified to a lower pay range, the employee's salary shall remain 
the same. If the employee's salary is above the maximum established for the new range, the salary of 
that employee shall be maintained at the current level until the range is increased above the employee's 
salary. 
 
Section 10. Salary Effect of Salary Range Revisions 
When a class of positions is assigned to a higher salary range, employees in that class shall receive a pay 
increase to the corresponding level of the new salary grade. When a class of positions is assigned to a 
lower salary range, the salaries of employees in that class will remain unchanged. If this assignment to a 
lower salary range results in an employee being paid at a rate above the maximum step established for 
the new class, the salary of that employee shall be maintained at that level until such time as the 
employee's salary range is increased above the employee's current salary. 
 
Section 11. Transition to a New Salary Plan 
The following principles shall govern the transition to a new salary plan: 
1. No employee shall receive a salary reduction as a result of the transition to a new salary plan. 
2. All employees being paid at a rate lower than the minimum rate established for their respective 

classes shall have their salaries raised to the new minimum for their classes. 
 

3. All employees being paid at a rate below the maximum rate established for their respective classes 
shall be paid at a rate listed in the salary schedule; all employees not at a listed rate shall have their 
salaries raised to a listed rate. 

4. All employees being paid at a rate above the maximum rate established for their respective classes 
shall be maintained at that salary level until such time as the employees' salary range is increased 
above the employees' current salary. 

 
Section 12. Effective Date of Salary Changes 
Salary changes approved after the first working day of a pay period shall become effective at the beginning 
of the next pay period or at such specific date as may be provided by procedures approved by the Town 
Manager. 
 
Section 13. Overtime Pay Provisions 
Employees of the Town can be requested and may be required to work overtime hours as necessitated 
by the needs of the Town and determined by the Department Head. The Town Manager must approve all 
overtime. 
 
To the extent that local government jurisdictions are so required, the Town will comply with the Fair 
Labor Standards Act (FLSA). The Town Manager shall determine which jobs are "non-exempt" and are 
therefore subject to the Act in areas such as hours of work and work periods, rates of overtime 
compensation, and other provisions. 
 
Non-exempt employees will be paid at a straight time rate for hours up to the FLSA established limit for 
their position (usually 40 hours in a 7 day period). Employees in public safety job classes earn overtime 
based on a 28 day time period; overtime does not occur for personnel in law enforcement until 171 hours 
are worked. 
 



 

In determining eligibility for overtime in a work period, only hours actually worked shall be considered; in 
no event will annual, sick leave, or holidays be included in the computation of hours worked for FLSA 
purposes. 
 
Whenever practicable, departments will schedule time off on an hour-for-hour basis within the applicable 
work period for non-exempt employees, instead of paying overtime. When time off within the work 
period cannot be granted, overtime worked will be given in the form of compensatory time off or paid in 
accordance with the FLSA. 
 
Compensatory time off will be scheduled for the employee as soon as possible whenever feasible and 
within 30 days as determined by the Manager. No employee shall be paid for overtime work except upon 
recommendation of the Manager. 
 
Emergency Situations – non-exempt employees In emergency situations, non-exempt employees will be 
compensated at their usual overtime rate of time and one half for hours worked in excess of (40) forty 
hours per week and double time for hours worked on weekends and holidays. Police Officers are paid 
regular pay for hours worked up to 171 in a 28-day cycle and any hours over 171 are paid at time and one 
half. Emergency Situations – exempt employees  
 
For exempt employees (including Department Heads) required to work extended hours during an 
emergency, the Town Council shall compensate for hours worked over and above the regular workweek at 
their regular hourly rate. 
 
Department Heads are "exempt" for the FLSA and shall work the number of hours necessary to assure 
the satisfactory performance of their normal duties; compensatory time may be tracked for 
management purposes but they are not eligible to earn overtime pay or compensatory time. 
 
Section 14. Call-Back and Stand-By Pay 
The Town provides a continuous twenty-four hour a day, seven day a week service to its customers. 
Therefore, it is necessary for certain employees to respond to any reasonable requests for duty at any 
hour of the day or night. One of the conditions of employment with the Town is the acceptance of a 
share of the responsibility for continuous service, in 
accordance with the nature of each job position. If an employee fails to respond to reasonable calls for 
emergency service, either special or routine, the employee shall be subject to disciplinary action up to 
and including dismissal. 
 
Call-back. Non-exempt employees will be guaranteed a minimum payment of one hour of wages for 
being called back to work outside of normal working hours when not on stand-by. "Call-back" provisions 
do not apply to previously scheduled overtime work (scheduled one or more days in advance). 
 
Stand-by. Non-exempt employees required to be on "stand-by" duty will be paid Stand- by time is 
defined as that time when an employee must remain near an established telephone or otherwise 
substantially restrict personal activities in order to be ready to respond when called. Or in cases where 
Public Works Employees will be checking pumps on weekends. Pay will be as follows: 

• $100 per Weekend 
• $150 per Holiday Weekend 

 
 
 



 

Section 15. Payroll Deduction 
Deductions shall be made from each employee's salary, as required by law. Additional deductions may be 
made upon the request of the employee on determination by the Town Manager as to capability of payroll 
equipment and appropriateness of the deduction. 
Required deductions include: Federal Income Tax; State Income Tax; Social Security (FICA); and Local 
Government Retirement. 
 
Section 16. Direct Deposit Required 
In accordance with State Law, the Town Manager may dictate that the Town compensates employees by 
direct deposit, ACH, or other electronic means. 
 
Section 17. Hourly Rate of Pay 
Employees working in a part-time or temporary capacity with the same duties as full- time employees will 
work at a rate in the same salary range as the full-time employees working 40 hours per week. 
 
Section 18. Longevity Pay (Effective July 1, 2017) 
Full-time regular employees of the Town are compensated for years of service by payment of a longevity 
supplement based on the following table. The longevity pay system is approved annually by the Board as 
a part of the budget process. Longevity increases shall be based upon a percentage of annual wages or 
salary depending upon the number of consecutive years of employment with the Town, and are granted 
as part of the last payroll in November. 
 
 

Years of Service Longevity Pay 

1-5 $200 

6-10 $400 

11-15 $600 

16-20 $800 

More than 20 $1,000 

 
Longevity pay is based on continuous years of service to the Town. Department Heads is based on years 
of service in the NC Retirement System. Normal payroll deductions will be made from longevity pay in 
accordance with federal and State regulations on compensation. An employee must have worked a full 
year to be eligible to receive longevity pay. Years of service are calculated on a calendar year basis as of 
November 30 of each year. 
 
Section 19. Travel and Subsistence Reimbursements 
When it is necessary or desirable for a Town employee to travel to participate in a meeting, conference, 
workshop, seminar, or to otherwise conduct the Town's business, the Town will bear necessary and 
reasonable expenses relating to these activities. 
 
The Town will pay all registration costs, including charges for any meals that are included as part of a 
registration fee for a meeting, conference, workshop of seminar. The Town will pay round trip tourist air 
fare to destination and cab fare between airports, hotels, and activity sites. The use of economically 
priced rental cars may be considered. The Town will pay employees on the basis of mileage for the use of 
their private automobile on Town business. When traveling mileage for one's personal car will be paid 



 

when this cost does not exceed the cost of air travel. The Town will determine the mileage reimbursement 
based on the most recent rate set by the IRS. Travel by Town vehicles is required whenever available. 
Parking fees will be reimbursed. 
 
The Town will pay the actual cost of moderately priced out of town lodging, including local taxes and fee 
charges, for the employee only. If a meeting, conference, etc. is being held at a hotel, the employee may 
select that hotel for lodging. The Town will pay expenses for extended overnight stay when significant 
savings may be realized. Such extended stay must be specifically approved by the Town Manager. 

 
The Town will pay for actual cost of meals and gratuities which are deemed reasonable by the Town 
Manager. Meals or banquets that are included in a meeting, conference, etc. activity or meals where the 
employee has no practical control over the site or food selection that exceeds these amounts are 
exempt. The Town will pay reasonable extra costs for these meals and gratuities only when a receipt is 
furnished and the expense justified. For day activities, the Town will pay for lunch only. Breakfast and 
dinner costs are not allowable expenses if the activity does not extend overnight. An exception to this 
rule may be allowed by the Town Manager when an exceptionally early departure or late return is an 
alternative to an overnight stay. 
 
All tickets and receipts for meals, lodging and other approved expenses shall to be turned in the Finance 
Officer upon return from travel. The Town Manager shall review and approved travel expenses before 
payment can be dispensed. There shall be no maximum set for the cost of meals and lodging. However, an 
employee traveling at Town expense shall use the most economical motel available while traveling. 
 
When submitting mileage for payment the employee shall fill out a Request Mileage Payment form. This 
form shall include an accurate recording of mileage traveled, purpose of the travel and travel destination, 
etc. This form shall be given to the Finance Officer for payment. 
 
The Town will not pay for personal expenses that are unrelated to the purpose of the travel activity. 
Expenses such as, but not limited to, alcoholic beverages, personal telephone calls, newspapers, 
magazines, room service, movies, premium TV channels and other entertainment will not be 
reimbursed. 
 
The Department Head or Town Manager shall approve, in advance, all requests to travel on Town business 
made by those in his or her department and all expenses to be incurred and/or relative to this travel. 
Because of his/her familiarity with the purpose of the travel and the personnel involved, the Department 
Head shall closely monitor expenses and question any unreasonable charges incurred and make 
recommendations to the Town Manager. 

 
The Finance Officer shall also review all travel related transactions and advise the Department Head and 
Town Manager of any apparent deviations from this policy. 



 

ARTICLE IV.  RECRUITMENT AND EMPLOYMENT 
 
Section 1.  Equal Employment Opportunity Policy 
It is the policy of the Town to foster, maintain and promote equal employment opportunity. The Town shall 
select employees on the basis of the applicant's qualifications for the job and award them, with respect 
to compensation and opportunity for training and advancement, including upgrading and promotion, 
without regard to age, sex, race, color, religion, national origin, non-job related handicap, political 
affiliation, or marital status. Applicants with physical handicaps shall be given equal consideration with 
other applicants for positions in which their physical handicaps do not represent an unreasonable barrier 
to satisfactory performance of duties with or without reasonable accommodation. 
 
Section 2. Implementation of Equal Employment Opportunity Policy 
All personnel responsible for recruitment and employment will continue to review regularly the 
implementation of this personnel policy and relevant practices to assure that equal employment 
opportunity based on reasonable, job-related job requirements is being actively observed to the end 
that no employee or applicant for employment shall suffer discrimination because of age, sex, race, 
color, religion, non-job related handicap, national origin, political affiliation, or marital status. Notices 
with regard to equal employment matters shall be posted in conspicuous places on Town premises in 
places where notices are customarily posted. 
 
Section 3. Recruitment, Selection and Appointment 
Recruitment Sources. When position vacancies occur, supervisors shall notify the Town Manager 
concerning the number and classification of positions which are to be filled. The Town Manager shall 
publicize these opportunities for employment, including applicable salary  information  and  
employment  qualifications.   Information   on job openings   and hiring practices shall be provided to 
recruitment sources, including organizations and news media available to minority applicants. In 
addition, notice of vacancies shall be posted at designated conspicuous sites within departments. 
Individuals shall be recruited from a geographic area as wide as necessary to ensure that well-qualified 
applicants are obtained for Town service. 
 
Job Advertisements. Employment advertisements shall contain assurances of equal employment 
opportunity and shall comply with Federal and State statutes. 
 
Application for Employment. All persons expressing interest in employment with the Town shall be given 
the opportunity to file an application for employment for positions which are vacant. 



 

Application Reserve File. Applications shall be kept in an inactive reserve file for a period of two years, in 
accordance with Equal Employment Opportunity Commission guidelines. 
 
Selection. Department Heads shall make such investigations and conduct such examinations as 
necessary to assess accurately the knowledge, skills, and experience qualifications required for the 
position and approved in the Position Classification Plan. 
 
Appointment. Before any commitment is made to an applicant either internal or external, the 
Department Head shall make recommendations to the Town Manager who shall review and approve the 
position to be filled, the salary to be paid, and the reasons for selecting the candidate over other 
candidates. The Town Manager shall approve appointments and the starting salary for all applicants. 
 
Section 4. Probationary Period 
An employee appointed or promoted to a permanent position shall serve a probationary period. 
Employees shall serve a six-month probationary period, except that sworn law enforcement personnel 
shall serve a probationary period defined by Departmental Policy not to exceed twelve months. 
Employees hired as "trainees" shall remain on probation until the provisions of their traineeship are 
satisfied. 
 
During the probationary period, supervisors shall monitor an employee's performance and communicate 
with the employee concerning performance progress. Before the end of the probationary period, the 
supervisor shall determine whether the employee is performing satisfactory work and meeting job 
expectations. The employee's progress (accomplishments, strengths, and weaknesses) will be discussed 
with the employee and a summary of this discussion should be documented in the employee's personnel 
file. The supervisor shall recommend in writing whether the probationary period should be completed, 
extended, or the employee transferred, demoted, or dismissed. Probationary periods may be extended 
for a maximum of six additional months. Except that the probationary period for sworn police personnel 
shall not exceed twelve months. 
 
Disciplinary action, including demotion and dismissal, may be taken at any time during the probationary 
period of a new hire without following the steps outlined in this Policy for disciplinary action. A promoted 
employee who does not successfully complete the probationary period may be transferred or demoted 
to a position in which the employee shows promise of success. If no such position is available, the 
employee shall be dismissed. Promoted employees retain all other rights and benefits such as the right 
to use the grievance procedures. 
 
Probationary employees are eligible for but not entitled to benefits cited in this policy; however, annual 
leave may not be taken within this period unless approved by the Department Head. 
 
 
Section 5. Promotion 
Promotion is the movement of an employee from one position to another vacant position in a class 
assigned to a higher salary range. It is the Town's policy to create career opportunities for its employees 
whenever possible. Therefore, when a current employee applying for a vacant position is best suited of 
all applicants, that applicant shall be promoted to that position. The Town will balance three goals in the 
employment process: 
 
1) the benefits to employees and the organization of promotion from within;  
2) providing equal employment opportunity and a diversified workforce to the community; and  



 

3) obtaining the best possible employee who will provide the most productivity in that position. 
Candidates for promotion shall be chosen on the basis of their qualifications and their work records. 
Candidates shall apply for promotions using the same application process as external candidates. 

 
Section 6. Demotion 
Demotion is the movement of an employee from one position to a position in a class assigned to a lower 
salary range. An employee whose work or conduct in the current position is unsatisfactory may be 
demoted provided that the employee shows promise of becoming a satisfactory employee in the lower 
position. Such demotion shall follow the disciplinary procedures outlined in this chapter. Demoted 
employees may appeal this decision based on the Grievance Process outlined in this Personnel Policy. 
 
Section 7. Transfer 
Transfer is the movement of an employee from one position to another position in a class at the same 
salary range. If a vacancy occurs and an employee in another department is eligible for a transfer, the 
employee shall apply for the transfer using the usual application process. The Department Head wishing to 
transfer an employee to a different department or classification shall make a recommendation to the 
Town Manager. Any employee transferred without requesting the action may appeal the action in 
accordance with the grievance procedure outlined in this chapter. An employee who has successfully 
completed a probationary period may be transferred into the same classification without serving 
another probationary period. It is the policy of the Town to transfer employees temporarily or 
permanently from one department to another when doing so will serve the Town's best interest, to 
permit maximum utilization of personnel during unanticipated emergency situation, during peak 
workloads, and for shifting help to where it is most needed. 



 

ARTICLE V. CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT 
 
Section 1. Work Schedule 
Department Heads shall establish work schedules, with the approval of the Town Manager, which meet 
the operational needs of the department in the most cost effective manner possible. 
Normally a full-time employee, except in police services, works an eight-hour day for five days per week 
for a total of forty hours during a work week. Police may work up to 171 hours within a twenty eight day 
cycle. 
 
Section 2. Political Activity 
Each employee has a civic responsibility to support good government by every available means and in 
every appropriate manner. Each employee may join or affiliate with civic organizations of a partisan or 
political nature, may attend political meetings, may advocate and support the principles or policies of 
civic or political organizations in accordance with the Constitution and laws of the State of North 
Carolina and in accordance with the Constitution and laws of the United States. However, no employee 
shall: 

a) Engage in any political or partisan activity while on duty; 
b) Use official authority of influence for the purpose of interfering with or affecting the result of a 

nomination or an election for office; 
c) Be required as a duty of employment or as condition for employment, promotion or tenure of 

office to contribute funds for political or partisan purposes; 
d) Coerce or compel contributions from another employee of the Town for

 politica
l or partisan purposes; 

e) Use any supplies or equipment of the Town for political or partisan purposes; 
f) Be a candidate for nomination or election to office under the Town Charter. 

 
 
Any violation of this section shall subject the employee to disciplinary action including dismissal. 



 

Section 3. Outside Employment 
The work of the Town shall have precedence over other occupational interests of employees. All outside 
employment for salaries, wages, or commission and all self- employment must be reported in advance to 
the employee's Department Head, who in turn will report it to the Town Manager. The Town Manager 
will review such employment for possible conflict of interest and then approve or disapprove the 
secondary employment. If subsequent questions or issues arise the employee must provide full 
disclosure regarding all aspects of secondary employment. Conflicting or unreported outside 
employment is grounds for disciplinary action up to and including dismissal. 
 
Section 4. Employment of Relatives 
The Town prohibits the hiring and employment of immediate family in regular positions within the same 
work unit. "Immediate Family" is defined in Article VII, Section 12. The Town also prohibits the 
employment of any person into a regular position who is an immediate family member of individuals 
holding the following positions: Town Manager or Town Clerk. Otherwise, the Town will consider 
employing family members or related persons in the service of the Town, provided that such 
employment does not result in relatives supervising relatives. 
 
Section 5. Harassment 
Harassment on the basis of race, color, religion, gender, national origin, age or disability constitutes 
discrimination. The Town opposes harassment by supervisors and employees of the Town in any form. 
Harassment is verbal or physical conduct that denigrates or shows hostility or aversion toward an 
individual because of his or her race, color, religion, gender, national origin, age, or disability, or that of 
his or her relatives, friends, or associates. 
 
Sexual harassment is defined as unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, and other verbal 
or physical conduct of a sexual nature when 1) submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or 
implicitly a term or condition of an individual's employment; 2) submission to or rejection of such 
conduct by an individual is used as the basis for employment decisions affecting such individual; or 3) 
such conduct has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an individual's work 
performance or creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive working environment. 
Any employee who believes that he or she may have a complaint of harassment may file the complaint 
directly with the Town Manager. If the complaint is against the Town Manager, then the complaint 
shall be submitted in writing to the Town Clerk for Transmission to the Town Board. The Town Manager 
or Town Board will conduct an investigation into any allegation of sexual harassment and advise the 
employee and appropriate management officials of the outcome of the investigation. Employees 
witnessing harassment shall also report such conduct to an appropriate Town official. 
 
Section 6. Acceptance of Gifts and Favors 
All employees will comply with any state law relating to the acceptance of gifts and favors. No official or 
employee of the Town shall accept any gift, favor, or thing of value that may tend to influence such 
employee in the discharge of the employee's duties, or grant in the discharge of duty an improper favor, 
service, or thing of value. The prohibition of unsolicited gifts is limited to circumstances of improper 
influence. In de minimus situations, such as meal checks or promotional key chains and the like, some 
modest maximum dollar value should be determined by the Town. This Section is not intended to isolate 
employees from normal social practices where gifts among friends, associates, and relatives are 
appropriate. 
 
 
 



 

Section 7. Performance Evaluation 
Department Heads shall conduct performance evaluation conferences with each employee at least once 
a year. These performance evaluations shall be documented in writing and placed in the employee's 
personnel file. Procedures for the performance evaluation program shall be determined by the Town 
Manager. 
 
Section 8. Safety 
Safety is the responsibility of both the Town and employees. It is the policy of the Town to establish a 
safe work environment for employees. The Town shall establish a safety program including policies and 
procedures regarding safety practices and precautions and training in safety methods in compliance with 
the provisions of the Occupational Safety and Health Act. Department Heads and supervisors are 
responsible for insuring the safe work procedures of all employees and providing necessary safety 
training programs. Employees shall follow the safety policies and procedures and attend safety training 
programs. Employees who violate such policies and procedures shall be subject to disciplinary action up 
to and including dismissal. As a part of its safety program, the Town Board will approve a detailed drug 
and alcohol abuse policy with accompanying processes and procedures. 
 
Section 9. Reporting Personal Injuries 
Any employee who is injured in the course of employment (on the job) with the Town or sustains any 
injury that may affect their ability to perform their job shall report all injuries to their Department Head 
within 24 hours of injury. All pertinent information shall be reported to the Town Manager so that 
appropriate action may be taken. 
 
Section 10. Reporting Accidents Involving Town Property/Equipment 
All accidents involving Town property and equipment shall be reported immediately to a Department 
Head. Department Heads will report this information to the Town Manager. All accidents involving Town 
property and equipment will be subject to investigation by the Town Manager. In consultation with the 
Town Manager, Department Heads shall take appropriate action in regard to insurance claims as soon as 
possible following the reported accident. 
 
Section 11. Immigration Law Requirements 
All employees are required to furnish proof of citizenship or other required documents indicating a legal 
right to work in the United States. Copies of the completed I-9 form shall be a permanent part of their 
personnel file. The Town must comply with all Federal and State laws relating to the verification of 
citizenship. 
 
Section 12. Use of Town Owned Vehicles 
All Town employees, who are assigned or authorized to use Town vehicles, are required to use these 
vehicles only in the course of driving these vehicles to and from work, only in the course of the 
employee's assigned duties and responsibilities as an employee of the Town, and only relating to the 
specific position for which that employee is employed. Employees who operate Town vehicles must 
report to their Department Head if they are charged with any moving violation while at work or 
otherwise. An employee who violates these requirements and privileges will be subject to disciplinary 
action, loss of vehicle use privileges, and possible termination of employment. “Take home” vehicles 
must be approved by the Town Manager. Employees are not allowed to alter Town owned vehicles 
without prior approval. 
  



 

 
Section 13. Post-Accident Testing 
All employees will be required to undergo urine and breath testing if they are involved in an accident 
while on official Town business that results in a fatality. In addition, a post- accident test will be 
conducted if an accident results in injuries requiring immediate transportation to a medical treatment 
facility; or one or more vehicles incurs disabling damage; unless the Town employee can be completely 
discounted as a contributing factor to the accident. Following an accident, the employee will be tested as 
soon as possible, but not to exceed eight hours for alcohol testing and 32 hours for drug testing. An 
employee involved in an accident must refrain from alcohol use for eight hours following the accident or 
until he/she undergoes a post-accident test. Any employee who leaves the scene of the accident without 
justifiable explanation prior to submission to drug and alcohol testing will be considered to have refused 
the test and their employment will be terminated. 
 
Employees tested under this provision will include any employee whose performance could have 
contributed to the accident. Department Head or supervisor will accompany employee to be tested to 
the appointment for drug/alcohol testing. 
 
Section 14. Uniforms 
The Town may require certain employees to wear uniforms or dress in a manner that conveys an 
appropriate public image while in the service of the Town. Employees are not allowed to alter uniforms. 

 
ARTICLE VI. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

 
Section 1. Eligibility 
All full-time employees of the Town are eligible for employee benefits as provided for in this Article 
which are subject to change at the Town's discretion. Part-time and temporary employees are eligible 
only for Workers' Compensation. 
 
Section 2. Group Health, Hospitalization, Vision and Dental Insurance 
The Town provides group health and hospitalization insurance programs for full-time employees after 
thirty days of employment. Employees may elect to include coverage for qualified dependents. This 
coverage is paid for by the employee. 
Information concerning cost and benefits shall be available to all employees through the Town Finance 
Office. 
 
Section 3. Life and Disability Insurance 
The Town may elect to provide life insurance for each employee subject to the stipulations of the insurance 
contract. Life insurance will be provided by the Town in the amount specified in the Town’s Life Insurance 
Policy, subject to appropriation. 
 
Section 4. Other Optional Group Insurance Plans 
The Town may make other group insurance plans available to employees upon funding by the Town 
Board and approval of the Town Manager. 
 
Section 5. Retirement 
Each employee who is expected to work for the Town more than 1,000 hours annually shall join the 
North Carolina Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System when eligible under Section 1 of this 
Article. New employees will be enrolled in the System after six (6) months of employment. This waiting 
period may be waived upon written justification and approval by the Town Manager. 



 

Section 6. Supplemental Retirement Benefits (401-K) 
The Town provides contributions of .75% of salary to a 401(K) plan for employees when eligible under 
Section 1 of this Article. New employees will be enrolled in the System after six (6) months of 
employment. This waiting period may be waived upon written justification and approval by the Town 
Manager. 
 
Employees may also make additional contributions under the guidelines set down by the 401(K) plan. A 
monthly separation allowance is paid to retired law enforcement officers as required by the General 
Statutes. 
 
Section 7. Social Security 
The Town, to the extent of its lawful authority and power, has extended Social Security benefits for its 
eligible employees and eligible groups and classes of such employees. 
 
Social Security is Federal Government insurance to provide an employee with income in his senior years. 
Disability and death benefits are also provided by social security. 
 
The cost for Social Security is paid through an automatic payroll tax. The Town matches the money that is 
deducted from the employee's payroll check for payment into the Social Security Trust Fund. 
 
Section 8. Workers' Compensation 
All employees of the (full-time, part-time, and temporary) are covered by the North Carolina Workers' 
Compensation Act and are required to report all injuries arising out of and in the course of employment 
to their immediate supervisors at the time of the injury in order that appropriate action may be taken at 
once. 
 
Responsibility for claiming compensation under the Workers' Compensation Act is on the injured 
employee and the supervisor and such claims must be filed by the employee with the North Carolina 
Industrial Commission within two years from date of injury. The Town Manager or designee will assist 
the employee in filing the claim. An employee having an adverse reaction to a smallpox vaccination 
received as an employee of the Town will be covered under the Town’s Workers’ Compensation policy. 
 
Section 9. Unemployment Compensation 
In accordance with Public Law 94-566 and subsequent amendments, local governments are covered by 
unemployment insurance. Town employees who are terminated due to a reduction in force or released 
from Town service may apply for benefits through the local Employment Security Commission office, 
where a determination of eligibility will be made. 
 
Section 10. Education Assistance Program 
All employees who wish to further their education are encouraged to do so by the Town. Courses taken 
which are required or determined to be necessary to meet the qualifications of the position held, will be 
paid for by the Town. Courses which may not be required, but felt to be beneficial to the Town and its 
employees, may or may not be approved, but will be reviewed on an individual basis by the Town 
Manager. The Town Manager will also review each situation to determine if such courses will be paid for 
by the Town, by the employee, or shared by both. The Town Manager will make a determination as to 
whether absence for work as a result of these courses can be justified at the particular time. The Town will 
support training courses, seminars and conferences to maintain current job knowledge to the extent 
funds are available. 
 



 

 
 
Conditions and Agreement. Because the Town expends resources in helping employees with tuition costs, 
employees should use their newly acquired training in service to the Town. Thus, an employee must 
agree to remain employed by the Town for two years following the date of reimbursement or repay the 
Town on a pro-rated schedule for the amount of the reimbursement. Employees reduced in force are 
exempt from this repayment. The amount owed will be deducted from the employee's last pay check, 
including cost of tuition, books and fees. 
 
Section 11. Flexible Benefits Plan (125 Plan) 
The Town may upon authorization by the Town Board provide for the availability of a flexible benefits 
plan under IRS Code Section 125 which would allow pre tax deductions from payroll checks for certain 
eligible benefit programs as specified by Section 125. 

 
ARTICLE VII. HOLIDAYS AND LEAVES OF ABSENCE 

 
Section 1. Policy 
The policy of the Town is to provide annual leave, sick leave, and holiday leave to all full- time employees, 
and to provide proportionately equivalent amounts to employees having average work weeks of different 
lengths. 
 
Section 2. Leave Pro-rated 
Holiday, annual, and sick leave earned by full-time employees with fewer or more hours than the basic 
work week shall be determined by the following formula: 

1) The number of hours worked by such employees shall be divided by the number of hours in the 
basic work week (usually 40 hours). 

2) The proportion obtained in step 1 shall be multiplied by the number of hours of leave earned 
annually by employees working the basic work week. 

3) The number of hours in step 2 divided by 12 shall be the number of hours of leave earned 
monthly by the employees concerned. 

 
Section 3. Holidays 
The policy of the Town is to follow the holiday schedule listed below: Each holiday is an eight-hour 
period. 
 
New Year's Day  
Martin L. King, Jr. Day  
Good Friday  
Memorial Day 
Independence Day  
Labor Day 
Columbus Day 
Veteran's Day 
Thanksgiving Day, Day after Thanksgiving Christmas – three (3) Work Days 
 
When a holiday other than Christmas Day falls on a Saturday or Sunday, The Town Manager shall 
determine that Monday or Friday shall be observed as a holiday. Any conflict in the date of the holiday 
shall be decided by the Town Manager or designee. The Town Manager shall designate the Christmas 



 

Holidays each year, depending on which day Christmas actually falls. If Christmas falls on a Wednesday or 
Thursday, the town may observe a 3 day holiday with approval of the Town Board. 
In order to be eligible for holiday pay, an employee must have worked the day before and the day after the 
holiday(s), or have been granted approved leave. 
 
Section 4. Holidays: Effect on Other Types of Leave 
Regular holidays which occur during an annual, sick or other leave period of any employee shall not be 
considered as annual, sick, or other leave. 
 
Section 5. Holidays: Compensation for Shift Personnel 
Employees required to perform work on regularly scheduled holidays may be granted compensatory 
time off or paid at their hourly rate for proportional hours based on the pro- rated hours outlined in 
Section 2 above in addition to any holiday pay to which they are entitled. Compensatory time shall be 
granted whenever feasible and taken within 30 days from the time it is earned. 
If a holiday falls on a regularly scheduled off-duty day for shift personnel, the employee shall receive the 
hours for paid holiday leave at another time. Department Heads are to ensure that this compensatory 
time is granted within 30 days, and if this is not feasible the Department Head shall discuss the situation 
with the Town Manager. Normally the employee shall be paid for the holiday compensatory time after 
120 days, if time off is not taken. During annual budget preparation, the Town Board may appropriate 
funds to compensate shift employees with 8 hours of pay for each holiday, such appropriation being 
dependent on the availability of funds. 
 
Law Enforcement Holiday Compensation will refer to the Police Department’s current Policy. 
 
Section 6. Annual Leave 
Annual leave shall be used for rest and relaxation, and may be used for medical appointments or 
sickness when sick leave is exhausted. Any compensatory time earned by the employee must be used 
prior to using annual leave. 
 
Section 7. Annual Leave: Use by Probationary Employees 
Employees serving a probationary period following initial employment may accumulate annual leave but 
shall not be permitted to take annual leave during the probationary period without special approval by 
the Town Manager. Employees shall be allowed to take accumulated annual leave after six months of 
service. 
 
Section 8. Annual Leave: Accrual Rate 
Each full-time employee of the Town shall accrue annual leave on the following schedule for each 
completed month (calendar month) of service, pro-rated by the number of hours in the work week: 
 

Years of Service Hours Earned Monthly Hours Earned Annually 

Less than 6 6.66 79.92 

6 7.33 87.96 

7 8.00 96.00 

8 8.66 103.92 

9 9.33 111.96 



 

10-15 10.00 120.00 

16 10.66 127.92 

17 11.33 135.96 

18 12.00 144.00 

19 12.66 151.92 

More than 19 13.33 159.96 

 
Section 9. Annual Leave: Maximum Accumulation 
Annual leave may accumulate during the year up to 240 hours. Any employee with more than 240 hours 
of accumulated leave during the year shall have the excess accumulation converted to the employee’s 
sick leave. Employees are not eligible to receive pay for annual leave time not taken. 
 
Section 10. Annual Leave: Manner of Taking 
Annual leave may be taken as earned by the employee with the exception of provisions applying to 
probationary employees. Annual leave is subject to the approval of the supervisor and the Town 
Manager. 
 
Section 11. Annual Leave: Payment upon Separation 
An employee who has successfully completed six months of the probationary period will normally be 
paid for accumulated annual leave upon separation not to exceed 240 hours, provided notice is given to 
the supervisor at least two weeks in advance of the effective date of resignation. Any employee failing to 
give the notice required by this section shall forfeit payment for accumulated leave. The notice 
requirement may be waived by the Town Manager when deemed to be in the best interest of the Town. 
Employees who are involuntarily separated may receive payment for accumulated annual leave subject to 
the 240 hour limit and based on the individual circumstances as determined and approved by the Town 
Manager. At the time of separation, any annual leave owed the Town shall be deducted from the 
employee's final compensation. 
 
Section 12. Annual Leave: Payment Upon Death 
The estate of an employee who dies while employed by the Town shall be entitled to payment of all the 
accumulated annual leave credited to the employee's account not to exceed the maximums established 
in Section 8 of this Article. 
 
Section 13. Sick Leave 
Sick leave with pay is not a right which an employee may demand, but a privilege granted for the benefit 
of an employee when sick. Sick leave may be granted to an employee absent from work for any of the 
following reasons: sickness, bodily injury, required physical or dental examinations or treatment, or 
exposure to a contagious disease, when continuing work might jeopardize the health of others. Sick leave 
may also be used by either parent for the birth of a child during the mother's period of disability, and for 
adoption not to exceed a period of six weeks. 
 
Sick leave may be used when an employee must care for a member of his or her immediate family who is 
ill. Sick leave may also be used for funeral attendance. 
 



 

Sick leave may also be used to supplement Workers' Compensation Disability Leave both during the 
waiting period before Workers' Compensation benefits begin, and afterward to supplement the 
remaining salary, except that employees may not exceed their regular salary amount using this provision. 
 
"Immediate family" shall be defined as spouse, parent, guardian, children, sister, brother, grandparents, 
grandchildren plus the various combinations of half, step, in-law, and adopted relationships that can be 
derived from those named. 
 
Notification of the desire to take sick leave should be submitted to the employee's supervisor prior to the 
leave Failure to do so appropriately may result in disciplinary action. 
 
Section 14. Sick Leave: Accrual Rate and Accumulation 
Sick leave shall accrue at the rate of 8 hours per month for each completed month (calendar month) of 
service: An employee must work at least 15 days of a month to gain credit for the month. 
 
Sick leave will be cumulative for an indefinite period of time and may be converted upon retirement for 
service credit consistent with the provisions of the North Carolina Local Government Employees' 
Retirement System. 
 
Any compensatory time earned by an employee shall be taken first prior to using the sick leave account. 
Sick leave shall be taken in hour units. 
 
All sick leave accumulated by an employee shall end and terminate without compensation when the 
employee resigns or is separated from the Town, except as stated for employees retiring or terminated 
due to reduction in force. 
 
Section 15. Sick Leave: Medical Certification 
The Department Head or the Town Manager may require a physician's certificate stating 
the nature of the employee or immediate family member's illness and the employee's capacity to 
resume duties, for each occasion on which an employee uses sick leave or whenever the supervisor 
observes a "pattern of absenteeism." The employee may be required to submit to such medical 
examination or inquiry as the Department Head deems desirable. The Department Head shall be 
responsible for the application of this provision to the end that: 
 

1) Employees shall not be on duty when they might endanger their health or the health of other 
employees; and 

 
2) There will be no abuse of leave privileges. 

 
Claiming sick leave under false pretense to obtain a day off with pay shall subject the employee to 
disciplinary action. 
 
Section 16. Leave Without Pay 
A full or part-time employee may be granted a leave of absence without pay for a period of up to six 
months by the Town Manager. The leave shall be used for reasons of personal disability after both sick 
leave and desired amount of annual leave have been exhausted, sickness or disability of immediate family 
members, continuation of education, special work that will permit the Town to benefit by the experience 
gained or the work performed, or for other reasons deemed justified by the Town Manager. The 
employee must pay the full cost of insurance during this period to continue insurance benefits. 



 

 
The employee shall apply in writing to the supervisor for leave. The employee is obligated to return to 
duty within or at the end of the time determined appropriate by the Town Manager. Upon returning to 
duty after being on leave without pay, the employee shall be entitled to return to the same position held 
at the time leave was granted or to one of like classification, seniority, and pay. If the employee decides 
not to return to work, the supervisor shall be notified immediately. Failure to report at the expiration of a 
leave of absence, unless an extension has been requested, shall be considered a resignation. 
 
Section 17. Leave Sharing 
Employees may share accumulated annual leave with other Town employees in cases of extended medical 
illness or accident which requires continued absence from work. An employee may make application for 
him/herself or for another employee to be considered for the shared leave program. Approval of the 
Town Manager is required. An employee may share an unlimited number of annual hours, but must 
maintain a balance of at least 
40 hours. Procedures will be established by the Town Manager for application and approval process. 
Medical certification may be required according to the medical certification policy. If an employee does 
not have to use all the hours that are donated, the remaining balance will be credited back, on a pro-
rated basis, to those employees who donated leave. 
 
If two employees of the Town qualify under the "immediate family" definition, consideration may be 
granted for sharing sick leave. 
 
Section 18. Workers' Compensation Leave 
An employee absent from duty because of sickness or disability covered by the North Carolina Workers' 
Compensation Act may elect to use accrued sick leave or annual during the first waiting period. The 
employee may also elect to supplement workers' compensation payments after they begin provided that 
the combination of leave supplement and workers' compensation payments does not exceed normal 
compensation. An employee on workers' compensation leave will permitted to continue to be eligible for 
benefits under the Town's group insurance plans. 
 
Section 19. Military Leave 
Regular employees who are members of an Armed Forces Reserve organization or National Guard shall 
be granted ten workdays per year for military leave with pay. On rare occasions due to annual training 
being scheduled on a federal fiscal year basis, an employee may be required to attend two periods of 
training in one calendar year. For this purpose only, an employee shall be granted an additional ten days of 
military leave during the same calendar year. Any salary payments which the employee receives from the 
military shall be deducted from the sum paid by the Town. The effect will be to maintain the employee's 
salary at the normal level during this period. If such duty is required beyond this ten workdays, the 
employee shall be eligible to take accumulated annual leave or be placed in a leave without pay status, 
and the provisions of that leave shall apply. While taking military leave without pay or with partial pay, 
the employee's leave credits and other benefits shall continue to accrue as if the employee physically 
remained with the Town during this period. Employees who are eligible for military leave have all job 
rights specified by the Vietnam Veterans Readjustment Act, including members of the National Guard or a 
reserve unit. 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Section 20. Reinstatement Following Military Service. 
An employee called to extended active duty with the United States military forces, who does not 
volunteer for service beyond the period for which called, shall be reinstated with full benefits provided 
the employee: 
 
1) Applies for reinstatement within ninety days after the release from military service; and 

 
2) Is able to perform the duties of the former position or similar position; or 

 
3) Is unable to perform the duties of the former position or a similar position due to disability 

sustained as a result of military service, but is able to perform the duties of another position in 
the service of the Town. In this case the employee shall be employed in such other position as 
will provide the nearest approximation of the seniority, status, and pay which the employee 
otherwise would have been provided, if available. 

 
Section 21. Civil Leave 
A Town employee called for jury duty or as a court witness for the federal or state governments, or a 
subdivision thereof, shall receive leave with pay for such duty during the required absence without 
charge to accumulated leave. The employee may keep fees and travel allowances received for jury or 
witness duty in addition to regular compensation; except, that employees must turn over to the Town 
any witness fees or travel allowance awarded by that court for court appearances in connection with 
official duties. While on civil leave, benefits and leave shall accrue as though on regular duty. 
 
Section 22. Hazardous Weather Conditions 
If an employee cannot make it to work due to hazardous conditions caused by the weather, the 
employee must notify their supervisor no later than one hour after the current workday has begun. If an 
employee fails to notify their supervisor he/she will be charged leave without pay. It shall be the Town 
Manager’s responsibility to decide whether or not weather conditions are severe enough to cancel work 
for the day. 
 
Section 23. Funeral Leave 
A maximum of five days paid funeral leave may be allowed should there be a death in the employees’ 
immediate family. Immediate family shall be defined as spouse, children, mother, father, brother, sister, 
mother-in-law, father-in-law, grandparents and grandchildren. All funeral leave must be approved by the 
Town Manager in advance. 
 
Section 24. Petty Leave/Community Service Leave 
An employee of the Town will be allowed 16 hours per year of petty/community service leave with pay 
over and above all leaves. This leave may be used for appointments other than medical, emergencies, … 
The Town Manager shall approve all leaves taken in this manner. An employee may take no more than 
two (4) hours of petty leave at one time. Any time taken over two (4) hours at a time must be charged to 
another type of leave. 
 

Community Service Leave Defined: 
 

(1) Leave for Child Involvement and School Volunteerism: Employees may use all or part of their 
annual allotment of Community Service Leave to volunteer time in support of programs and 
services in public and private elementary, middle and high schools, and licensed public and 
private child care and pre-school settings. A parent may use this leave to meet with a teacher or 



 

administrator concerning the parent’s child or may attend any educational function sponsored 
by the school in which the child is participating. 

 
(2) Leave for Non-Profit Organization Volunteerism: Employees may use all or part of their annual 

10-hour allotment of Community Service Leave to volunteer in non-profit, non-partisan 
community organizations which are designated as 501(c)(3) agencies under the Internal Revenue 
Code, or human services organizations licensed or accredited to serve citizens with special needs 
including children, youth and the elderly. 

 
Section 25. Family and Medical Leave 
The Town will grant up to 12 weeks of family and medical leave per twelve months to eligible employees 
in accordance with the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993 (FMLA) or subsequent amendments. The 
leave may be paid (coordinated with the Town’s Vacation and Sick Leave policies), unpaid, or a 
combination of paid and unpaid. Earned Compensatory time may also be used during FMLA leave. 
Unpaid leave will be granted only when the employee has exhausted all appropriate types of paid leave. 
Additional time away from the job beyond the 12-week period may be approved in accordance with the 
Town’s Leave with Pay policy. 
To qualify for FMLA coverage, the employee must have worked for the employer 12 months or 52 weeks; 
these do not have to be consecutive. However, the employee must have worked 1,250 hours during the 
twelve-month period immediately before the date when the FMLA time begins. 
 
Family and medical leave can be used for the following reasons: 
 

1) The birth of a child and in order to care for that child; 
2) The placement of a child for adoption or foster care; 
3) To care for a spouse, child, or parent with a serious health condition; 
4) The serious health condition of the employee; or 
5) Military exigency. 

 
An employee who takes leave under this policy will return to the same job or a job with equivalent 
status, pay, benefits, and other employment terms. The position will be the same or one which entails 
substantially equivalent skills, effort, responsibility, authority. 
 
A serious health condition is defined as a condition which requires inpatient care at a hospital, hospice, 
or residential medical care facility, or a condition which requires continuing care by a licensed health 
care provider. This policy covers illness of a serious and long-term nature resulting in recurring or lengthy 
absences. Generally, a chronic or long term health condition which results in a period of incapacity of 
more than three days would be considered a serious health condition. 
 
If a husband and wife both work for the Town and each wishes to take leave for a birth of a child, 
adoption or placement of a child in foster care, or to care for a parent (not parent in-law) with a serious 
health condition, the husband and wife together may only take a total of 12 weeks leave under FMLA. 
 
An employee taking leave for the birth of a child may use paid sick leave for the period of actual disability, 
based on medical certification. The employee shall then use all paid vacation and accrued compensatory 
time for the remainder of the 12-week period. 
 



 

The request for the use of leave must be made in writing by the employee and approved by the Town 
Manager. 
 
An employee who takes leave under this policy will return to the same job or a job with equivalent 
status, pay, benefits, and other employment terms. The position will be the same or one which entails 
substantially equivalent skill, effort, responsibility, and authority. 
 
“Military Exigency” is a qualifying exigency arising out of the fact that the employee’s spouse, son, 
daughter, or parent is a military service member (reserve or National Guard) under a call or order to 
federal active duty in support of a contingency operation. Qualifying events are: 
 

1) Deployment of service member with seven or fewer days’ notice; 
 

2) Military ceremonies and events such as family-assistance or informational programs related to 
the family member’s active duty or call to active duty; 

 
3) Urgent, immediate childcare or arranging for alternative childcare for the children of service 

members; 
 

4) Attending school or daycare meetings relating to the child of service member; 
 

5) Making financial or legal arrangements related to a family member’s active duty status or call to 
active duty; or 

 
6) Post-deployment activities for a period of ninety days after the termination of the service 

member’s active duty status. 
 
Military Caregiver Leave: An employee whose spouse, son, daughter, parent or next of kin is a current 
service member who is undergoing treatment, therapy, recuperation or outpatient treatment or has 
temporary disability retirement for injury or illness sustained in the line of duty, is eligible for 26 weeks 
of leave in a single 12 month period. During a single 12 month period, the employee is eligible for a total 
of 26 weeks of all types of FMLA leave. 
 
Section 26. Medical & Family Leave – Certification 
In order to qualify for leave under this law, the Town requires medical certification. This statement from 
the employee’s or the family member’s physician should include the date when the condition began, its 
expected duration, diagnosis, and brief statement of treatment. For the employee’s own health 
condition, it should state that the employee is unable to perform the essential functions of his/her 
position. For a seriously ill family member, the certification must include a statement that the patient 
requires assistance and the employee’s presence would be beneficial or desirable. 
 
This certification should be furnished at least 30 days prior to the needed leave unless the employee’s or 
family member’s condition is a sudden one. The certification should be furnished as soon as possible (no 
longer than 15 days from the date of the employee’s request). The certification and request must be 
made to the Town Manager. 
 
The employee is expected to return to work at the end of the time frame stated in the medical 
certification, unless he/she has requested additional time in writing under the Town’s Leave Without Pay 
policy. 



 

 
 
Section 27. FMLA & Leave Without Pay: Retention & Benefit Continuation 
When an employee is on leave under the FMLA (maximum of 12 weeks in a year), the 
Town will continue the employee’s health benefits during the leave period at the same level and under 
the same conditions as if the employee had continued to work. If an employee chooses not to return to 
work for reasons other than a continued serious health condition, the Town will require the 
reimbursement of the amount paid for the employee’s health insurance premium during the FMLA leave 
period. 
 
Other insurance and payroll deductions are the responsibility of the employee and the employee must 
make those payments for continued coverage of that benefit. 
 
An employee shall retain all unused vacation and sick leave while on Leave Without Pay. An employee 
ceases to earn leave credits on the date leave without pay begins. The employee may continue to be 
eligible for benefits under the Town’s group insurance plans at his or her own expense, subject to any 
regulation adopted by the Board of Commissioners and the regulations of the insurance carrier. 
 
Section 28. Bereavement Leave 
It is The Town’s policy to provide eligible employees with paid bereavement leave following the death of 
an immediate family member. An employee is allowed five working days per occurrence (for employees 
working a flexible work schedule, part time, or compressed schedule, the allotment is prorated based on 
their regular weekly schedule). 
 

 Immediate family members include: 
 Parents Siblings Spouse Children 
 Domestic partner* Mother/father-in-law Sister/brother-in-law Daughter/son-in-law 

Grandparent Grandchild 
 Domestic partner's mother, father, sister, brother, son or daughter Spouse's or 

domestic partner's grandparent or grandchild 
 An adult who stood "in loco parentis" during an employees childhood Step-children 
 Step-parents 
 *Domestic partner means an adult of the same or opposite sex engaged in a 

spouse-like relationship characterized by mutual caring and dependency. 
 

Generally, bereavement leave is taken immediately following the death. However, there may be 
circumstances when a manager will recognize the need for flexibility, for example, if a memorial service is 
scheduled at a time in the future. 
 
An employee should notify his or her supervisor of the need to take bereavement leave as soon as 
possible. 
 
Employees with an attendance warning or other attendance issues may be asked to provide 
documentation regarding their request for bereavement leave. 



 

ARTICLE VIII. SEPARATION AND REINSTATEMENT 
 
Section 1. Types of Separations 
All separations of employees from positions in the service of the Town shall be designated as one of the 
following types and shall be accomplished in the manner indicated: Resignation, reduction in force, 
disability, voluntary retirement, dismissal, or death. In all cases except for death, the Town requires that 
Town owned equipment, uniforms etc. Be turned in on or before the Employees last day of service, or 
within 24 hours of employee’s last day of service at the discretion of the Department Head. 
 
Section 2. Resignation 
An employee may resign by submitting the reasons for resignation and the effective date in writing to the 
immediate supervisor as far in advance as possible. In all instances, the minimum notice requirement is 
two weeks. Failure to provide minimum notice shall result in forfeit of payment for accumulated annual 
leave unless the notice is waived upon recommendation of the supervisor and approval by the Town 
Manager. 
 
Three consecutive days of absence without contacting the immediate supervisor or Department Head is 
considered to be a voluntary resignation. 
 
Section 3. Reduction in Force 
In the event that a reduction in force becomes necessary, consideration shall be given to the quality of 
each employee's performance, organizational needs, and seniority in determining those employees to be 
retained. Employees who are separated because of a reduction in force shall be given at least two weeks’ 
notice of the anticipated action. 
 
No regular employee shall be separated while there are temporary or probationary employees serving in 
the same class in the department, unless the regular employee is not willing to transfer to the position 
held by the temporary or probationary employee. 
 
Section 4. Disability 
An employee who cannot perform the required duties because of a physical or mental impairment may 
be separated for disability. Action may be initiated by the employee or the Town. In all cases, such action 
must be accompanied by medical evidence acceptable to the Town Manager. The Town may require an 
examination, at the Town's expense, performed by a physician of the Town's choice. 
 
Section 5. Voluntary Retirement 
An employee who meets the conditions set forth under the provision of the North Carolina Local 
Government Employee's Retirement System may elect to retire and receive all benefits earned under the 
retirement plan. 
 
Section 6. Death 
Separation shall be effective as of the date of death. All compensation due shall be paid to the estate of 
the employee. 
 
Section 7. Dismissal 
An employee may be dismissed in accordance with the provisions and procedures of Article IX. 
 
 
 



 

Section 8. Reinstatement 
An employee who is separated because of reduction in force may be reinstated within one year of the 
date of separation, upon recommendation of the supervisor and approval of the Town Manager. An 
employee who is reinstated in this manner shall be re-credited with his or her previously accrued sick 
leave. 
 
Section 9. Rehiring 
An employee who resigns while in good standing may be rehired after one year with the approval of the 
Town Manager, and shall be regarded as a new employee, subject to all of the provisions of rules and 
regulations of this Chapter. However, the employee shall be credited with his or her previously accrued 
sick leave if he or she is rehired within five years. An employee in good standing who is separated due to 
a reduction in force shall be given the first opportunity to be rehired in the same or a similar position. 

 
ARTICLE IX. UNSATISFACTORY JOB PERFORMANCE 

AND DETRIMENTAL PERSONAL CONDUCT 
 

Section 1. Disciplinary Action for Unsatisfactory Job Performance 
A regular employee may be placed on disciplinary suspension, demoted, or dismissed for unsatisfactory 
job performance, if after following the procedure outlined below, the employee's job performance is still 
deemed to be unsatisfactory. 
 
Section 2. Unsatisfactory Job Performance Defined 
Unsatisfactory job performance includes any aspects of the employee's job which are not performed as 
required to meet the standards set by the supervisor. Examples of unsatisfactory job performance 
include, but are not limited to, the following: 
1) Demonstrated inefficiency, negligence, or incompetence in the performance of duties; 
2) Careless, negligent or improper use of Town property or equipment; 
3) Physical or mental incapacity to perform duties; 
4) Discourteous treatment of the public or other employees; 
5) Absence without approved leave; 
6) Repeated improper use of leave privileges; 
7) Habitual pattern of failure to report for duty at the assigned time and place; 
8) Insubordination or violation of the organization’s hierarchy; 
9) Failure to complete work within time frames established in work plan or work standards; or 
10) Failure to meet work standards over a period of time. 
 
Section 3. Communication and Warning Procedures 
When an employee's job performance is unsatisfactory, or when incidents or inappropriate actions 
warrant, the Department Head should meet with the employee as soon as possible in one or more 
counseling sessions to discuss specific performance problems. A brief summary of these counseling 
sessions should be noted in the employee's file by the supervisor. An employee whose job performance 
is unsatisfactory over a period of time should normally receive at least two warnings from the supervisor 
before disciplinary action resulting in dismissal is taken by the Department Head. This Section will not be 
interpreted as mandating two warnings prior to dismissal in all instances. In each case, the supervisor 
should record the dates of discussions with the employee, the performance deficiencies discussed, the 
corrective actions recommended, and the time limits set. If the employee's performance continues to be 
unsatisfactory, then the supervisor should use the following disciplinary steps: 
 



 

1) A final written warning from the Department Head serving notice upon the employee that 
corrected performance must take place immediately in order to avoid suspension, demotion, or 
dismissal. 

 
2) If performance does not improve, the Department Head should initiate a Disciplinary Conference 

as detailed in Section 6 of this Article. 
 
Section 4. Disciplinary Action for Detrimental Personal Conduct 
With the approval of the Town Manager, an employee may be placed on disciplinary suspension or 
dismissed without prior warning or counseling for causes relating to personal conduct detrimental to 
Town service in order to 1) avoid undue disruption of work; 2) to protect the safety of persons or 
property; or 3) for other serious reasons. 
 
Section 5. Detrimental Personal Conduct Defined 
Detrimental personal conduct includes behavior of such a serious detrimental nature that the functioning 
of the Town may be or has been impaired; the safety of persons or property may be or have been 
threatened; or the laws of the government may be or have been violated. Examples of detrimental 
personal conduct include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
1) Fraud; 
2) Commission of a felony or the entry of a plea of nolo contendere thereto; 
3) Falsification of records for personal profit, to grant special privileges, or to obtain employment; 
4) Willful misuse or gross negligence in the handling of Town funds; 
5) Willful or wanton damage or destruction to property; 
6) Willful or wanton acts that endanger the lives and property of others; 
7) Possession of unauthorized firearms or other lethal weapons on the job; 
8) Brutality in the performance of duties; 
9) Reporting to work under the influence of alcohol or drugs or partaking of such while on duty. 

Prescribed medication may be taken within the limits set by a physician as long as medically 
necessary; 

10) Engaging in incompatible employment or servicing a conflicting interest; 
11) Request or acceptance of gifts in exchange for favors or influence; 
12) Conduct unbecoming a public officer or employee; 
13) Engaging in political activity prohibited by this chapter; 
14) Committing a crime or engaging in financial behavior such as declaring bankruptcy that draws into 

question the employee ability to be trusted with public funds; or 
15) Making unsubstantiated allegations against coworkers or the town that have been made 

maliciously or knowingly falsified. 



 

Section 6. Disciplinary Conference 
Before any disciplinary action is taken, whether for failure in personal conduct or failure in performance 
of duties, in consultation with the Town Manager, the Department Head shall, when feasible, meet with 
the employee and, provide the employee with a written notice of disciplinary action, which will include 
the nature of the action, recommended effective date, and the reasons for the action. The Department 
Head will consider the employee's response, if any, to the disciplinary action, and will, within three 
working days following the conference, notify the employee in writing of the final decision to take 
disciplinary action. The notice of the final disciplinary action shall contain a statement of the reasons for 
the action and the employee's appeal rights. 
 
Section 7. Non-Disciplinary Suspension 
During the investigation, hearing, or trial of an employee on any criminal charge, or during an investigation 
related to alleged detrimental personal conduct, or during the course of any civil action involving an 
employee, when suspension would, in the opinion of the Department Head, be in the best interest of 
the Town, the Department Head, with the approval of the Town Manager, may suspend the employee 
for the duration of the proceedings as a non-disciplinary action. In such cases, the Department Head 
may: 
 
1) Temporarily relieve the employee of all duties and responsibilities and place the employee on paid 

or unpaid leave for the duration of the suspension, or 
 
2) Assign the employee new duties and responsibilities and allow the employee to receive such 

compensation in keeping with the new duties and responsibilities. 
 
If the employee is reinstated following the suspension such employee shall not lose any benefits to which 
otherwise the employee would have been entitled had the suspension not occurred. If the employee is 
terminated following suspension, the employee shall not be eligible for any pay from the date of 
suspension; provided, however, all other benefits with the exception of accrued annual and sick leave shall 
be maintained during the period of suspension. 



 

ARTICLE X. GRIEVANCE & WHISTLE BLOWING PROCEDURE 
 
Section 1. Policy 
It is the policy of the Town to provide a just and prompt procedure for the presentation, consideration, 
and disposition of employee grievances and for employees to report suspected abuse or wrongdoing 
“whistle-blowing.” The purpose of this Article is to outline the procedure and to assure all employees that 
a response to their complaints and grievances will be prompt and fair. 
 
Section 2. Grievance Defined 
A grievance is a claim or complaint by an employee based upon an event or condition, which affects the 
circumstances under which an employee works, allegedly caused by misinterpretation, unfair 
application, or lack of established policy pertaining to employment conditions. 
Employees utilizing the grievance procedure shall not be subjected to retaliation or any form of 
harassment from supervisors or employees for exercising their rights under the grievance procedure. 
Supervisors or other employees who violate this policy shall be subject to disciplinary action up to and 
including dismissal. 
 
Section 3. Purposes of the Grievance Procedure 
The purposes of the grievance procedure include, but are not limited to: 
 
1) Providing employees with a procedure by which their complaints can be considered promptly, 

fairly, and without reprisal; 
2) Encouraging employees to express themselves about the conditions of work which affect them as 

employees; 
3) Promoting better understanding of policies, practices, and procedures which affect employees; 
4) Increasing employees' confidence that personnel actions taken are in accordance with 

established, fair, and uniform policies and procedures; and 
5) Increasing the sense of responsibility exercised by supervisors in dealing with their employees. 



 

Section 4. Procedure 
When an employee or group of employees has a grievance, the following successive steps are to be 
taken unless otherwise provided. The number of calendar days indicated for each step should be 
considered the maximum, unless otherwise provided, and every effort should be made to expedite 
the process. However, the time limits set forth may be extended by mutual consent. The last step 
initiated by an employee shall be considered to be the step at which the grievance is resolved. A 
decision to rescind a disciplinary suspension, demotion or dismissal must be approved by the Town 
Manager and/or the Town Manager before the decision becomes effective. 
 
Informal Resolution. Prior to the submission of a formal grievance, the employee and Department 
Head should meet to discuss the problem and seek to resolve it informally. This meeting should be 
requested and held within five working days of the incident or action giving rise to the problem. 
Ongoing conditions are not subject to this time restriction but a conference should be scheduled and 
held as quickly as possible. 
 
Step 1. If no resolution to the grievance is reached informally, the employee who wishes to pursue a 
grievance shall present the grievance to the Department Head in writing. The grievance must be 
presented within five calendar days of the event or within five calendar days of learning of the event 
or condition. The Department Head shall respond to the grievance within five calendar days after 
receipt of the grievance. The Department Head should, and is encouraged to, consult with any 
employee of the Town in order to reach a correct, impartial, fair and equitable determination or 
decision concerning the grievance. Any employee consulted by the Department Head is required to 
cooperate to the fullest extent possible. 
 
The response from the Department Head shall be in writing and signed and dated by the 
Department Head. In addition, the employee shall sign a copy to acknowledge receipt thereof. The 
responder at each step shall send copies of the grievance and response to the personnel file. 
 
If the employee is directly supervised by the Town Manager the employee will make this first 
grievance to the Town Manager. 
 
Step 2. If the grievance is not resolved to the satisfaction of the employee by the Department Head, 
the employee may appeal, in writing, to the Town Manager within five calendar days after receipt of 
the response from Step 1. The Town Manager shall respond to the appeal, may meet with the 
employee to discuss the grievance fully, and will make a decision within ten calendar days. The 
Town Manager’s decision is final on all grievances, except dismissal. 
 
Step 3. If the grievance is not resolved to the satisfaction of the employee for actions involving 
dismissal by the Town Manager, the employee may appeal in writing to the Board by submitting 
their written appeal to the Town Clerk within five calendar days after receipt of the response in Step 
2. The Town Manager shall provide documentation and justification to the Board. The Board will 
make a decision within 30 calendar days. The Board’s Decision is final. 
 
Section 5. Grievance & Appeal Procedure for Discrimination 
When an employee, former employee, or applicant believes that any employment action 
discriminates illegally (i.e. is based on age, sex, race, color, national origin, religion, creed, political 
affiliation, or disability) he/she has the right to appeal such action using the grievance procedure 
outlined in this policy. While such persons are encouraged to use the grievance procedure, they 
shall have the right to appeal directly to the Town Board. An employee or applicant should appeal 



 

an alleged act of discrimination within thirty calendar days of the alleged discriminatory action, but 
may appeal for up to six months following the action. 
 
Section 6. Back Pay Awards 
Back pay and benefits may be awarded to reinstated employees in suspension, and discrimination 
cases. 
 
Section 7. Employee Representation 
In consideration of the practice of the Town to provide a just and prompt procedure for the 
presentation, consideration, and disposition of employee grievances in a non- adversarial 
atmosphere, no attorneys will be allowed in the grievance process. 
 
Section 8. Whistle Blowing Procedure & Protection 
Reporting Misconduct 
As a furtherance of the Town’s informal open door policy, this section outlines the process through 
which employees can report: 

 
Grievous violations of town policy and procedures  
Violations of federal or state law Fraud or theft 
Malfeasance or misfeasance of local, state, or federal resources 
Substantial and specifics dangers to public health and safety 
Gross mismanagement, waste, or abuse of authority 

 
Employees are encouraged to attempt a resolution internally prior to seeking an external resolution 
outside of the Town’s authority. Suspected violations committed by other employees may be 
reported in writing directly to the Town Manager or if the allegations are against the Town Manager 
or Town Board, directly to the Town Attorney. Receipt of the report will be confirmed in writing 
within 5 business days. 
No Retaliation 
No employee who in good faith reports a violation of policy or alleged dishonest, illegal, or 
unethical behavior shall suffer harassment, retaliation, or adverse employment consequences. Any 
employee found to violate this principal shall be subject to disciplinary action including dismissal. 
Whistleblowers identities will be kept confidential to the greatest extent possible consistent with 
the need to conduct an adequate investigation. Whistle blowing may be engaged in anonymously; 
however, this may compromise the good faith nature of the process and the Town’s ability 
effectively substantiate violations. 
 
Resolution 
All reports will be promptly investigated and resolved through an appropriate combination of 
improving employee education, policy changes, reporting to appropriate professional development 
agencies, disciplinary action including dismissal, and criminal investigation. 
 
  



 

ARTICLE XI. PERSONNEL RECORDS AND REPORTS 
 

Section 1. Public Information 
In compliance with GS 160A-168, the following information with respect to each Town employee is 
a matter of public record: name; age; date of original employment or appointment to the service; 
current position title; current salary; date and amount of the most recent increase or decrease in 
salary; date of the most recent promotion, demotion, transfer, suspension, separation, or other 
change in position classification; and the office to which the employee is currently assigned. Any 
person may have access to this information for the purpose of inspection, examination, and 
copying, during regular business hours, subject only to such rules and regulations for the 
safekeeping of public records as the Town may adopt. 
Section 2. Access to Confidential Records 
All information contained in a Town employee's personnel file, other than the information 
mentioned above is confidential and shall be open to inspection only in the following instances: 
 
1) The employee or his/her duly authorized agent may examine all portions of his/her personnel file 

except letters of reference solicited prior to employment, and information concerning a medical 
disability, mental or physical, that a prudent physician would not divulge to the patient. 

 
2) A licensed physician designated in writing by the employee may examine the employee's 

medical record. 
 
3) A Town employee having supervisory authority over the employee may examine all material in 

the employee's personnel file. 
 

4) By order of a court of competent jurisdiction, any person may examine all material in the 
employee's personnel file. 

 
5) An official of an agency of the State or Federal Government, or any political subdivision of the 

State, may inspect any portion of a personnel file when such inspection is deemed by the Town 
Manager to be necessary and essential to the pursuit of a proper function of the inspecting 
agency, but no information shall be divulged for the purpose of assisting in a criminal 
prosecution of the employee, or for the purpose of assisting in an investigation of the 
employee's tax liability. However, the official having custody of the personnel records may 
release the name, address, and telephone number from a personnel file for the purpose of 
assisting in a criminal investigation. 

 
6) An employee may sign a written release to be placed in his/her personnel file that permits the 

record custodian to provide, either in person, by telephone, or by mail, information specified in 
the release to prospective employers, educational institutions, or other persons specified in the 
release. 
 

7) The Town Manager, with the concurrence of the Town Board, may inform any person of the 
employment, non-employment, promotion, demotion, suspension or other disciplinary action, 
reinstatement, transfer, or dismissal of a Town employee, and the reasons for that action. 
Before releasing that information, the Town Manager shall determine that the release is 
essential to maintaining the level and quality of Town services. The written determination shall 
be retained in the Town Manager’s office, is a record for public inspection, and shall become a 
part of the employee's personnel file. 



 

 

 
The Town Board shall establish procedures for all personnel files containing information other than 
the public information mentioned above whereby an employee who objects to material may seek 
to have the material removed from the file or may place in the file a statement relating to the 
material. 
 
Section 3. Personnel Actions 
The Town Manager will prescribe necessary forms and reports for all personnel actions. The Town 
Clerk will retain records necessary for the proper administration of the personnel system. 
 
Section 4. Records of Former Employees 
The provisions for access to records apply to former employees as they apply to present employees. 
 
Section 5. Remedies of Employees Objecting to Material in File 
An employee who objects to material in his/her file may place a statement in the file relating to the 
material considered to be inaccurate or misleading. The employee may seek removal of such 
material in accordance with established grievance procedures. 
 
Section 6. Penalties for Permitting Access to Confidential Records 
Section 160A-168 of the General Statues provides that any public official or employee who 
knowingly and willfully permits any person to have access to any confidential information contained 
in an employee personnel file, except as expressly authorized by the designated custodian, is guilty 
of a misdemeanor and upon conviction shall be fined in an amount consistent with the General 
Statutes. 
 
Section 7. Examining or Copying Material Without Authorization 
Section 160A-168 of the General Statutes of North Carolina provides that any person, not specifically 
authorized to have access to a personnel file designated as confidential, who shall knowingly and 
willfully examine in its official filing place, remove or copy any portion of a confidential personnel file 
shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction shall be fined consistent with the General 
Statutes. 
 
Section 8. Destruction of Records Regulated 
No public official may destroy, sell, loan, or otherwise dispose of any public record, except in 
accordance with GS 121.5, without the consent of the State Department of Cultural Resources. 
Whoever unlawfully removes a public record from the office where it is usually kept, or whoever 
alters, defaces, mutilates or destroys it will be guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction will be 
fined in an amount provided in Chapter 132.3 of the General Statutes. 

 
ARTICLE XII. IMPLEMENTATION OF POLICIES 

 
Section 1. Conflicting Policies Repealed 
All policies, ordinances, or resolutions that conflict with the provisions of these policies are hereby 
repealed. 
 
Section 2. Separability 
If any provision of these policies or any rule, regulation, or order thereunder of the application of 
such provision to any person or circumstances is held invalid, the remainder of these policies and the 



 

application of such remaining provisions of these policies of such rules, regulations, or orders to 
persons or circumstances other than those held invalid will not be affected thereby. 
 
Section 3. Effective Date 
These policies shall become effective on November 14, 2016. Amended September 9, 2019. 
 
  



 
 

Attachment #4 
 

9 September 2019 
 
Brandon Holland, Manager  
Town of Biscoe 
110 W. Main St. 
Biscoe, NC 27209 
 
Re: RFP-Legal Services/Sanitary Sewer System Rehabilitation 
 
Dear Mr. Holland: 

I have reviewed the Town's request for proposals for legal services regarding the sanitary sewer 
system rehabilitation project. I hope that this letter will serve as my firm's submission in response to the 
Town's request. 

 
Hollers & Atkinson, P.C. is a professional corporation with its office in Troy. The mailing address, e-

mail address, and telephone and fax numbers are found on the letterhead above. 
 
I am the principal of the law firm. I have been a licensed attorney in North Carolina since August 1992 

and have been in practice continuously since that date. The firm's current practice is focused on real estate 
transactions, local government counseling, and wills/estate administration. 

 
The firm currently represents the County of Montgomery, the Town of Candor, the Town of Troy, and 

the Town of Biscoe. I have represented those local governments since the retirement of the partners of 
the predecessor firm, Hollers & Atkinson, Attorneys at Law, in December 2016. The predecessor firm 
represented those clients, except for the Town of Biscoe, for decades before the succession of the 
current firm in January 2017. References would be Matthew Woodard (County Manager), Greg Zephir 
(Town of Troy Manager), and Tammy Kellis (Town of Candor Clerk). 

 
The requested legal services are consistent with the current focus of the firm's practice. We are 

capable of completing the legal work since it will fit into the flow of our practice. I do not anticipate any 
particular block of time that the firm will be unavailable during the project. 

 
The fee for legal services will be $175.00 per hour for attorney time and $35.00 per hour for 

paralegal/clerical time. The hourly rate for legal services is my normal rate for local government work and is 
approximately 25% lower than my rate for similar legal work. I will advance recording costs, excise tax stamp 
fees, and other miscellaneous costs and bill the Town afterwards at no markup. If I have to travel, I will bill the 
Town at my hourly rate but will not charge for mileage. 

 
I have attached a printout from the North Carolina State Bar that shows my eligibility to practice law in 

the state. 
 
Please call me if you have any questions or desire more information. I thank you in advance for your 

time and consideration and remain, 
 

Sincerely yours,  
 
Russell  J.  Hollers, III 
  



 
 

Attachment #5 
 



 
TOWN OF BISCOE 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING 
September 25, 2019 

 
The Biscoe Town Board of Commissioners met in a special called meeting on Wednesday, September 25, 
2019 at noon in the Municipal Building. Present were: Mayor Jimmy Blake, Commissioners Gene 
Anderson, and John Beard (via telephone).  
 
(James Cagle, Jr. “Jimmy” Cagle’s seat is vacant due to his death on December 30, 2017).  
 
Absent: Mayor Pro-Tem Jerry Smith, Kay Cagle Kinch 
 
Members of Management Present: Town Manager Brandon Holland, Town Clerk Laura Morton, Public 
Works Director Sam Stewart and Police Chief Shane Armstrong. 
 
Approval of AIA Grant Application Resolution 
A motion was made by Commissioner Beard, seconded by Commissioner Anderson, and so the motion 
carried unanimously to approve the AIA Grant Application Resolution as presented. 
 
Approval to Receive the Allen Property Road into the Cemetery 
A motion was made by Commissioner Anderson, seconded by Commissioner Beard, and so the motion 
carried unanimously to accept the road leading to the cemetery from the Jeff Allen family. 
 
(This road will need to be annexed into the Town before it can be added to the Powell Bill Street Listing.) 
 
 
Adjournment  
There being no further business to bring before the Board, Commissioner Beard made the motion to 
adjourn, and Commissioner Anderson made the second. All voted in favor. Meeting adjourned at 12:15 
pm. 
 
 
 
_________________________                 __________________________ 
Mayor                    Town Clerk 
 
 



 
 

TOWN OF BISCOE 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING 

June 10, 2019 
 

The Biscoe Town Board of Commissioners met in a regular session on Monday, June 10, 2019 at 7:00 
pm in the Municipal Building. Present were: Mayor Jimmy Blake, Mayor Pro-Tem Jerry Smith, 
Commissioners Gene Anderson, Kay Cagle Kinch and John Beard. (James Cagle, Jr. “Jimmy” Cagle’s 
seat is vacant due to his death on December 30, 2017).  
 
Members of Management Present: Town Manager Brandon Holland, Town Clerk Laura Morton, and 
Police Chief Brent Tedder. 
 
Call to Order/Pledge of Allegiance 
Mayor Blake called the meeting to order at 7:00 pm. The Pledge of Allegiance to the American Flag 
was recited and a moment of silence was observed. 
 
Conflict of Interest Statement 
“In keeping with the Conflict of Interest Laws outlined in Chapter 138A of the North Carolina Board 
of Ethics, any conflicts of interest or appearance of conflict with matters coming before the Board of 
Commissioners should be declared,” “Having received our agenda for this evening’s meeting, are 
there any conflicts of interest to be announced? If so, please, state them at this time.” 
 
Approval of the Consent Agenda 
A motion was made by Mayor Pro-tem Smith, seconded by Commissioner Beard and so the motion 
carried unanimously to approve consent agenda items: 
 

a) Approval of the Agenda  
b) Approval of May 13, 2019 Regular Meeting Minutes 
c) Approval of June Monthly Financial Report 
d) Approval of Pool Concession Fees 
e) Approval of Policy to Unseal Closed Session Minutes 
 

AYES: 4; NAYS: 0 
 
Schedule Public Hearing #1 – Proposed Fiscal Year 2019-2020 Budget 
A motion was made by Commissioner Anderson, seconded by Commissioner Kinch, and so the 
motion carried unanimously to set a Public Hearing for June 10, 2019 for the Proposed Fiscal Year 
2019-2020 Budget. 
 
AYES: 4; NAYS: 0 
 
Schedule Public Hearing #1 – Proposed Fire Hydrant Policy 
A motion was made by Commissioner Beard, seconded by Mayor Pro-tem Smith, and so the motion 
carried unanimously to set a Public Hearing for June 10, 2019 for the Proposed Fire Hydrant Policy. 
 
AYES: 4; NAYS: 0 



 
 

 
 
 
Reconsideration of Game Room Application for Demetrius Stancil  
Manager Holland 

 
Proposed Water/Sewer Ordinance Amendment  
Laura Jordan, Deputy Clerk 

 
Budget Amendment Request – Pump Replacement Manager Holland 
 
Mayor’s Minutes       -      Commissioner Reports         -        Staff Reports 
The Mayor said he would be taking Charlie Gaddy on a tour on Wednesday.  
 
Public Comment 
No one spoke during the public forum. 
 
Closed Session- Pursuant to NCGS 143-318.11 (5) - Property & NCGS 143-318.11 (6) Personnel 
A motion was made by Mayor Pro-tem Smith, seconded by Commissioner Kinch, and so the motion 
carried unanimously to recess the regular meeting and call to order a Closed Session – Pursuant to 
NCGS 143-318.11 (5) – Property and NCGS 143-318.11 (6) - Personnel. 
 
AYES: 4; NAYS: 0 
 
A motion was made by Commissioner Beard, seconded by Mayor Pro-tem Smith, and so the motion 
carried unanimously to adjourn the closed session and reconvene the regular meeting.  
 
AYES: 4; NAYS: 0 
 
The Board came out of the Public Hearing with nothing to report. 
 
 
Adjournment  
There being no further business to bring before the Board, Commissioner Beard made the motion to 
adjourn, and Mayor Pro-tem Smith made the second. All voted in favor. Meeting adjourned at 8:00 
p.m.  
 
 
 
_________________________                 __________________________ 
Mayor                    Town Clerk 
 
 



 Biscoe Monthly Financial Report    1 | P a g e  
 

  
BISCOE MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT 

FIRST BANK ACCOUNTS  2019 MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT 
ACCOUNT INTEREST RATE BALANCE STATUS 

MONEY MARKET - Bank 3   .05% $1,423,710.97 RECONCILED THRU 
August 31, 2019 

GENERAL FUND 10 – CD 54 - Bank 102 .15% $237,228.25 RECONCILED THRU 
September 30, 2019 

FUND 21 – CAP. RES. CD 49 - Bank 104 ACCOUNT CLOSED PER MARCH 2019 APPROVAL & A NEW NCCMT ACCT OPENED 
FUND 72  LEO – CD 30 - Bank 105 ACCOUNT CLOSED PER MARCH 2019 APPROVAL & A NEW NCCMT ACCT OPENED 

TOTAL FIRST BANK ACCOUNTS $1,664,977.22  
 

FIDELITY BANK ACCOUNTS 2019 MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT 

ACCOUNT INTEREST RATE BALANCE STATUS 
CENTRAL DEPOSITORY - Bank 1 .10% $988,088.64 

 
RECONCILED THRU 
September 30, 2019 

PAYROLL ACCOUNT - Bank 4 .10% $98,088.64 RECONCILED THRU 
September 30, 2019 

NATIONAL NIGHT OUT **NEW  
Bank 120 

.03% $452.56 RECONCILED THRU 
September 30, 2019 

CDBG-I BRUTON STREET **NEW 
Bank 119 

.50% $126,307.61 RECONCILED THRU 
September 30, 2019 

TOTAL FIDELITY BANK ACCOUNTS $1,212,937.45  
 

2019 NC CAPITAL MANAGEMENT TRUST INVESTMENT ACCOUNTS 

ACCOUNT INTEREST RATE BALANCE STATUS 
NC DEBT SET-OFF GOVT - Bank 108  
FUND 60 

2.05% $11,026.85 RECONCILED THRU 
September 30, 2019 

PAYROLL (GF) GOVT. - Bank 112 
FUND 10 

2.05% $104,048.00 
 

RECONCILED THRU 
September 30, 2019 

POWELL BILL ACCOUNT – GOVT. - Bank 116 
FUND 11 

2.05% $115,328.13 RECONCILED THRU 
September 30, 2019 

CAPITAL RESERVE – GOVT. Bank 121 
*New Account  -  FUND 21 

2.05% $34,925.77 RECONCILED THRU 
September 30, 2019 

LEO SEPARATION ALLOWANCE - GOVT  
Bank  122 *New Account FUND 72 

2.05% $28,575.51 RECONCILED THRU 
September 30, 2019 

CEMETERY (GF) TERM - Bank 113 
FUND 10 

2.21% $52,337.68 RECONCILED THRU 
September 30, 2019 

HALLOWEEN IN THE PARK (GF) TERM 
Bank 114    FUND 10 

2.21% $26,167.53 RECONCILED THRU 
September 30, 2019 

GENERAL NEEDS (GF) TERM - Bank 115 
FUND 10 

2.21% $225,808.21 RECONCILED THRU 
September 30, 2019 

WATER IMP. (WS) TERM Bank 111 
FUND 60 

2.21% $52,832.99 
 

RECONCILED THRU 
September 30, 2019 

TOTAL NCCMT INVESTMENT ACCOUNTS $651,050.67  



 Biscoe Monthly Financial Report    2 | P a g e  
 

 

Please Note In Addition to the Above Bank Accounts, Town Clerk/Finance Officer Reconciles  
The Following Accounts Each Month for Biscoe Fire Department. 

 
FIRE DEPARTMENT -  2019 MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT 

ACCOUNT INTEREST RATE BALANCE STATUS 
BISCOE FIRE DEPARTMENT (checking) 
FIRST BANK - Bank 101 

.10% $126,692.40 RECONCILED THRU 
September 30, 2019 

BISCOE FIRE RELIEF FUND  
FIRST BANK - Bank 109 

.10% $16,623.78 RECONCILED THRU 
September 30, 2019 

BISCOE FIRE STATE RELIEF FUND  
FIDELITY BANK – restricted - Bank 110 

.05% $2,050.54 RECONCILED THRU 
September 30, 2019 

BISCOE FIRE DEPT CD 
FIDELITY BANK - Bank 117 

.15% $34,940.93 RECONCILED THRU 
September 30, 2019 

BISCOE FIRE DEPT SUPPLEMENTAL 
RETIREMENT ACCT. – restricted - Bank 118 

.12% $51,084.31 RECONCILED THRU 
September 30, 2019 

TOTAL FIRST BANK & FIDELITY BANK ACCOUNTS $231,391.96  
 

 

 

 

SEWER ACROSS THE BYPASS 
Golden Leaf Funds – (Grant no pay back) - $800,000.00 
Town Funds - $1,458,960.00 
Total Project - $2,258,960.00 

 
WASTEWATER TREATMENT PLANT  
Clean Water Management Trust Fund Grant   $   584,000.00 
State Revolving Loan – Interest Rate 0.00%      $1,323,106.00                Annual Payment of $66,155.30.  
This FY Payment was made on April 12, 2019 
As of June 30, 2018, the Town owes approximately $1,124,640.10.           (To Be Paid Off May 1, 2036)       
 
The annual payment is $66,155.30.  The next payment annual payment will be made in May of 2019.  This will leave a balance of 
$1,124,640.10.      Total Project - $1,190,795.40 

 
INDUSTRIAL PUMP STATION   - FIRST BANK 
First Bank Commercial Loan – Interest Rate 1.75%     Loan Total $350,000.00 
Last payment of $6,198.91 posted on September 30, 2019, the Town owes approximately $73,687.94.  
 
LADDER TRUCK LOAN – FIDELITY BANK 
Fidelity Bank Commercial Loan – Interest Rate 3.75%      Loan/Principal Total $175,000.00   Annual Payment Amount: $21,366.91.  
First Payment was made on June 14, 2019. Balance $160,286.74.  Loan is for 10 years. To be Paid in full May of 2028. 

BRUTON STREET PUMP STATION   
The Town of Biscoe has received a grant award of $1,865,000 for their CDBG Infrastructure Application for the “Sanitary Sewer 
System Rehabilitation” project. The RFP for Administrative Services was awarded to LKC Engineering.  Monthly progress meetings 
began in June of 2019. 
  

NCCMT RATES CONTINUE TO INCREASE 
RATES AS OF 10.05.2019 

 

Rates for Government Portfolio Increased from 1.96 
Rates for Term Portfolio Increased from 2.02 

 



 Biscoe Monthly Financial Report    3 | P a g e  
 

 
 

SALES & USE TAX RECEIVED 
BUDGET CODE - 10-3230-000 

JULY 2019 ................................................................................................................................ $38,222.59 
AUGUST 2019 ........................................................................................................................... $40,172.77 
SEPTEMBER 2019 ...................................................................................................................... $41,742.37 
OCTOBER 2019 ...........................................................................................................................................  
NOVEMBER 2019 ........................................................................................................................................  
DECEMBER 2019 .........................................................................................................................................  
JANUARY 2020 ............................................................................................................................................  
FEBRUARY 2020 ..........................................................................................................................................  
MARCH 2020 .............................................................................................................................................  
APRIL 2020 ................................................................................................................................................  
MAY 2020..................................................................................................................................................  
JUNE 2020 .................................................................................................................................................  
TOTAL RECEIVED AS OF DATE ABOVE ........................................................................................... $120,137.73 

 
SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL TAX RECEIVED 

BUDGET CODE - 10-3270-000 
 

AUGUST 2019 ...............................................................................................................................$  310.93 
NOVEMBER 2019 ........................................................................................................................................  
FEBRUARY 2020 ..........................................................................................................................................  
MAY 2020..................................................................................................................................................  
JUNE 2020 .................................................................................................................................................  
TOTAL RECEIVED AS OF DATE ABOVE .................................................................................................. $310.93 
 

TAX PAYMENTS RECEIVED 
 (Property & Vehicle Tax) 

Tax Payments from Montgomery County Tax Department have been received 
 
JULY 2019 ................................................................................................................................ $   6,221.19 
AUGUST 2019 .......................................................................................................................... $ 60,399.85 
SEPTEMBER 2019 ........................................................................................................................................  
OCTOBER 2019 ...........................................................................................................................................  
NOVEMBER 2019 ........................................................................................................................................  
DECEMBER 2019 .........................................................................................................................................  
JANUARY 2020 ............................................................................................................................................  
FEBRUARY 2020 ..........................................................................................................................................  
MARCH 2020 .............................................................................................................................................  
APRIL 2020 ................................................................................................................................................  
MAY 2020..................................................................................................................................................  
JUNE 2020 .................................................................................................................................................  
TOTAL RECEIVED AS OF DATE ABOVE ........................................................................................... $  66,621.04 
 



 Biscoe Monthly Financial Report    4 | P a g e  
 

 

TELECOM SALES TAX RECEIVED 
BUDGET CODE - 10-3224-350 

 
AUGUST 2019 ............................................................................................................................. $1,993.71  
NOVEMBER 2019 ........................................................................................................................................  
FEBRUARY 2020 ..........................................................................................................................................  
MAY 2020..................................................................................................................................................  
JUNE 2020 .................................................................................................................................................  
TOTAL RECEIVED AS OF DATE ABOVE ..............................................................................................  $1,993.71 
 

UNAUTHORIZED SUBSTANCE ABUSE TAX RECEIVED 
BUDGET CODE - 10-3431-890 

 
AUGUST 2019 .............................................................................................................................. $  442.13  
NOVEMBER 2019 ........................................................................................................................................  
FEBRUARY 2020 ..........................................................................................................................................  
MAY 2020..................................................................................................................................................  
JUNE 2020 .................................................................................................................................................  
TOTAL RECEIVED AS OF DATE ABOVE ................................................................................................. $ 442.13  

 
 

UTILITY FRANCHISE TAX RECEIVED 
BUDGET CODE - 10-3224-000 

 
AUGUST 2019 ......................................................................................................................... $  54,900.12 
NOVEMBER 2019 ........................................................................................................................................  
FEBRUARY 2020 ..........................................................................................................................................  
MAY 2020..................................................................................................................................................  
JUNE 2020 .................................................................................................................................................  
TOTAL RECEIVED AS OF DATE ABOVE ...........................................................................................  $ 54,900.12 
 
 

VIDEO PROGRAMMING TAX RECEIVED 
BUDGET CODE - 10-3224-350 

 
AUGUST 2019 ............................................................................................................................ $ 1,189.85 
NOVEMBER 2019 ........................................................................................................................................  
FEBRUARY 2020 ..........................................................................................................................................  
MAY 2020..................................................................................................................................................  
JUNE 2020 .................................................................................................................................................  
TOTAL RECEIVED AS OF DATE ABOVE .............................................................................................. $ 1,189.85 

 
  



 Biscoe Monthly Financial Report    5 | P a g e  
 

 

 
 
WATER TANK RENOVATION  

  



 Biscoe Monthly Financial Report    6 | P a g e  
 

 

 

Reports Completed  
(In addition to monthly bank reconciliations) 

 
1st Quarter:  March 2019 

• 941 
• NC 5Q 
• Employment Security Commission 
• NCDOR E-500 (Pool Concessions)  
• 2nd Quarter:  March 2019 941, NC 5Q, Employment Security Commission, NCDOR E-500 (Pool 

Concessions)  
• LGC-203 Cash & Investments Report for Reporting Period ending December 31, 2018 
• LEO Separation Allowance Actuarial Study Report 
• US Government’s System for Award Management – for DUNS Number – Annual Update 
• FEMA Reports due to Hurricane Florence 
• GMS and GPRS – Office of Justice Programs Annual Update 

 
 
2nd Quarter:  June 2019 

• 941 
• NC 5Q 
• Employment Security Commission 
• NCDOR E-500 (Pool Concessions)  
• 2nd Quarter:  March 2019 941, NC 5Q, Employment Security Commission, NCDOR E-500 (Pool 

Concessions)  
• LGC-203 Cash & Investments Report for Reporting Period ending June 30, 2019 
• COLL-91 Report Form – Annual Notification by Public Depositor 
• NC Department of Labor Public Sector OSH Injury & Illness Survey 
• Powell Bill Certified Statement, Street Listing, Certified Powell Bill Map 
• Powell Bill Expenditure Report 
• Equitable Sharing Expenditure Report 
• CCR Annual Report Mailing 
• NC Demographic Information Survey  for NC Office of State Budget and Management  
• Secretary of State Board Appointment Report Due September 1, 2019 – Completed 
• NCDOR –E585 Sales & Use Refund Request for Sales Tax Paid July 1, 2018 thru June 30, 2019 

Submitted 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 Biscoe Monthly Financial Report    7 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
 

3rd Quarter:  September 2019 
• 2018-19 Worker’s Comp Self Audit due August 28, 2019. 
• Uploaded all auditor requests to their audit portal. 
• Pulled test samples requested by auditors 
• Procedural Walk-through with auditors 
• Helped 2 employees with FMLA and short term disability 
• Attended Clerks Conference in Wilkesboro NC 
• Worked on new policies: Surplus Property and Suggested Rules of Procedure for Town Council 
• Worked on updating the Personnel Policy 
• Worked on various CDBG items 
• Attended Fair Housing Workshop 
• Opened new Fire Department Account at First Bank for County Fire Funds 
• Updated the Website 
• Created pictures for Social Media 
• Held Monthly Administration Staff Meeting 
• Swore in new Police Officer Zuniga. Signed him up. 
• Distributed Payment to LKC for CDBG-I Bruton Street Project 
• Worked with Contractor for work in Copy Room 
• Scanned and checked all Cemetery Records 
• Reviewed all weekly check runs 
• Reviewed and confirm daily receipts 
• Posted all NC E-Pay Deposits 
• NCDOR E-500 (Pool Concessions)  (To be done week of October 14) 
• 3rd Quarter:  September  2019 941, NC 5Q, Employment Security Commission, NCDOR E-500 (Pool 

Concessions)  
• Created “Personnel Page” on the Town Website 
• Created NEW ordinance book, resolution book, policy book, proclamation book 
• Planned upcoming events (Bingo, Employee Appreciation Luncheon, etc.) 
• Went to Hobby Lobby to have pictures framed (Mayor and other historical frames) 

 
 

 
4th Quarter:  December 2019 
 
 
 
 



OATH OF OFFICE 
"I, Timothy Shane Armstrong, do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will support and maintain the 

Constitution and laws of the United States, and the Constitution and laws of North Carolina not 

inconsistent therewith, and that I will faithfully discharge the duties of my office as Police Chief, 

so help me God." 

 

 

________________________              ___________________________ 

Date          Timothy Shane Armstrong 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

________________________              ___________________________ 

Date          Laura B. Morton, Town Clerk 

 



Annexation of New Road 

 
The Jeff Allen Family has given the Town the road into the cemetery. Town Clerk 
Laura Morton has received the deed and survey map (included in your agenda 
packet). 

I have also included an Annexation Checklist. This meeting is the first step in the 
process.  

 

The Board will need the following motion: 

To direct the Town Clerk to complete a Certificate of Sufficiency and to schedule a 
public hearing for the November 11, 2019 meeting. 

 









Voluntary Annexation Petition
Plat Map
Legal Description of Property
Deed
Fee

Certificate of Sufficiency
Notice of Public Hearing
Affadavit of Publication for Public Hearing
Ordinance/Resolution Stating the Intent of the Town of Biscoe to Annex Property
Copies Filed

Copy of ordinance, certified minutes, map to the Secretary of State
Copy of ordinance, certified minutes, map to State Planner
Copy of ordinance, certified minutes, map to NC Department of Transportation
Copy of ordinance, certified minutes, map to County Planner
Copy of ordinance, certified minutes, map to Register of Deeds
Copy of ordinance, certified minutes, map to Tax Department
Copy of ordinance, certified minutes, map to Board of Elections
Copy of ordinance, certified minutes, map to Power company
Copy of ordinance, certified minutes, map to Telephone company
Copy of ordinance, certified minutes, map to Time Warner Cable
Copy of ordinance, certified minutes, map to Garbage company

Letter of Receipt and Acceptance from the Secretary of State

Recorded: Register of Deeds 
Filed with Secretary of State 

Filed with State Planner
Filed with NCDOT

Filed with County Planner
Filed with Tax Department

Filed with Board of Elections
Filed with Power Company

Filed with Telephone Company
Filed with Time Warner Cable
Filed with Garbage Company

ANNEXATION  CHECKLIST

DATE

STEP 1



## Adopt Resolution of Intent

## Advertise Notice of Publice Hearing 
Post Notice in Three Public Places In Town

## Public Hearing 
Adopt Ordinance

## Publish Notice of Adoption

Example of a Schedule for Annexation



Approval of Bid Proposals for the Shady Oak Pump Station 
 

During Hurricane Florence in September of 2018, the Shady Oak Pump Station was damaged. After 
meetings with FEMA we were told we would need to send out Request for Proposals for the 
repairs/maintenance of the pump station. 

We received bids and they are included in the agenda packet. 

 

 

 

































LKC Engineering, PLLC, 140 Aqua Shed Court, Aberdeen, North Carolina  28315 
PH: 910/420-1437 * FAX:  910/637-0096 * License No. P-1095

October 8, 2019 

Brandon Holland, Town Manager 

Town of Biscoe 

110 W. Main Street 

Biscoe, NC 27209 

Re:       Recommendation of Award 

Shady Oak Pump Station Repairs 

Town of Biscoe, Montgomery County, North Carolina 

Dear Brandon: 

Per the Town’s request LKC Engineering prepared an Informal Request for improvements to the Shady Oak 

Pump Station to address concerns from previous storm damage. Prices were received from three (3) direct 

solicitations with one additional contractor declining to respond to their current workload. Pricing received is 

summarized below: 

Carolina Lift Stations   $81,160.00 

Charles R. Underwood, Inc.   $95,160.00 

SKC, Inc. $126,080.00 

The informal bids were solicited due to the anticipated cost of the improvements and the nature of the work 

being heavy maintenance and repairs rather than new construction. As such these bids also had slight 

variations and bidders were allowed to make qualifications and state the type of repairs for certain portions of 

the work, for instance type of building materials. Our review did reveal a small variation in the low bidder’s 

quote that we chose to not accept, which will result in them needed to make a slight adjustment.  

Carolina Lift Stations has completed similar projects for LKC Engineering and have performed the work with 

excellent workmanship. Therefore, it is our recommendation that the Town award this work to Carolina Lift 

Stations for the amended amount based on our final negotiation of the scope. I would also note that work of 

this nature may encounter unforeseen issues with the age of the station and require some contingencies be 

made available as the situation may arise. 

If you should have any questions or comments, please do not hesitate in contacting this office. 

Sincerely, 

LKC ENGINEERING, PLLC 

Bill Lester, Jr., P.E. 

Project Manager 

Enclosures 



Census Committee Needed 

 

Town Manager Holland and Clerk Laura Morton met with Census a representative. We need a group of 
people that will be willing to serve on this committee. The committee should be comprised of a broad 
spectrum of government and community leaders from advocacy, education, business, healthcare, and 
elected official. These trusted voices develop and implement a 2020 Census Awareness Campaign based 
upon their knowledge of the local community to encourage a response.  

 Elected Official 
 Government Employees 
 Educators 
 Business Owners 
 Healthcare 

If you know someone who would like to serve, please contact Town Clerk Laura Morton with their name 
and contact information. This will be added on the November 11, 2019 meeting agenda. 

 
































	0 OCT 14, 2019 MEETING AGENDA
	1Statement of Disclosure
	2Agenda Adjustments and Approval
	3 Consent Agenda
	3a Sept 9 2019 minutes
	ARTICLE I. GENERAL PROVISIONS
	Section 1. Purpose of the Chapter
	Section 2. At Will Employment
	Section 3. Merit Principles
	Section 4. Responsibilities of the Town Board
	Section 5. Responsibilities of the Town Manager
	Section 6. Application of Policies, Plan, Rules, and Regulations
	Section 7. Departmental Rules and Regulations
	Section 8. Definitions
	ARTICLE II. POSITION CLASSIFICATION PLAN
	Section 1. Purpose
	Section 2. Composition of the Position Classification Plan
	Section 3. Use of the Position Classification Plan
	Section 4. Administration of the Position Classification Plan
	Section 5. Adoption of the Position Classification Plan
	Section 6. Request for Reclassification
	ARTICLE III. THE PAY PLAN
	Section 1. Definition
	Section 2. Administration and Maintenance
	Section 3. Cost of Living Adjustments
	Section 4. Starting Salaries
	Section 5. Trainee Designation and Provisions
	Section 6. Probationary Pay Increases
	Section 7. Merit Pay
	Section 8. Merit Pay Bonus
	Section 9. Promotions, Demotions, Transfers, and Reclassifications
	Section 10. Salary Effect of Salary Range Revisions
	Section 11. Transition to a New Salary Plan
	Section 12. Effective Date of Salary Changes
	Section 13. Overtime Pay Provisions
	Section 14. Call-Back and Stand-By Pay
	Section 15. Payroll Deduction
	Section 16. Direct Deposit Required
	Section 17. Hourly Rate of Pay
	Section 18. Longevity Pay (Effective July 1, 2017)
	ARTICLE IV.  RECRUITMENT AND EMPLOYMENT
	Section 1.  Equal Employment Opportunity Policy
	Section 2. Implementation of Equal Employment Opportunity Policy
	Section 3. Recruitment, Selection and Appointment
	Section 4. Probationary Period
	Section 5. Promotion
	Section 6. Demotion
	Section 7. Transfer
	ARTICLE V. CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT
	Section 1. Work Schedule
	Section 2. Political Activity
	Section 3. Outside Employment
	Section 4. Employment of Relatives
	Section 5. Harassment
	Section 6. Acceptance of Gifts and Favors
	Section 7. Performance Evaluation
	Section 8. Safety
	Section 9. Reporting Personal Injuries
	Section 10. Reporting Accidents Involving Town Property/Equipment
	Section 11. Immigration Law Requirements
	Section 12. Use of Town Owned Vehicles
	Section 14. Uniforms
	ARTICLE VI. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
	Section 1. Eligibility
	Section 2. Group Health, Hospitalization, Vision and Dental Insurance
	Section 3. Life and Disability Insurance
	Section 4. Other Optional Group Insurance Plans
	Section 5. Retirement
	Section 6. Supplemental Retirement Benefits (401-K)
	Section 7. Social Security
	Section 8. Workers' Compensation
	Section 9. Unemployment Compensation
	Section 10. Education Assistance Program
	Section 11. Flexible Benefits Plan (125 Plan)
	ARTICLE VII. HOLIDAYS AND LEAVES OF ABSENCE
	Section 1. Policy
	Section 2. Leave Pro-rated
	Section 3. Holidays
	Section 4. Holidays: Effect on Other Types of Leave
	Section 5. Holidays: Compensation for Shift Personnel
	Section 6. Annual Leave
	Section 7. Annual Leave: Use by Probationary Employees
	Section 9. Annual Leave: Maximum Accumulation
	Section 10. Annual Leave: Manner of Taking
	Section 11. Annual Leave: Payment upon Separation
	Section 12. Annual Leave: Payment Upon Death
	Section 13. Sick Leave
	Section 14. Sick Leave: Accrual Rate and Accumulation
	Section 15. Sick Leave: Medical Certification
	Section 16. Leave Without Pay
	Section 17. Leave Sharing
	Section 18. Workers' Compensation Leave
	Section 19. Military Leave
	Section 20. Reinstatement Following Military Service.
	Section 21. Civil Leave
	Section 22. Hazardous Weather Conditions
	Section 23. Funeral Leave
	Section 24. Petty Leave/Community Service Leave
	Section 25. Family and Medical Leave
	Section 26. Medical & Family Leave – Certification
	Section 27. FMLA & Leave Without Pay: Retention & Benefit Continuation
	Section 28. Bereavement Leave
	ARTICLE VIII. SEPARATION AND REINSTATEMENT
	Section 1. Types of Separations
	Section 2. Resignation
	Section 3. Reduction in Force
	Section 4. Disability
	Section 5. Voluntary Retirement
	Section 6. Death
	Section 7. Dismissal
	Section 8. Reinstatement
	Section 9. Rehiring
	ARTICLE IX. UNSATISFACTORY JOB PERFORMANCE
	AND DETRIMENTAL PERSONAL CONDUCT
	Section 1. Disciplinary Action for Unsatisfactory Job Performance
	Section 2. Unsatisfactory Job Performance Defined
	Section 3. Communication and Warning Procedures
	Section 4. Disciplinary Action for Detrimental Personal Conduct
	Section 5. Detrimental Personal Conduct Defined
	Section 6. Disciplinary Conference
	Section 7. Non-Disciplinary Suspension
	ARTICLE X. GRIEVANCE & WHISTLE BLOWING PROCEDURE
	Section 1. Policy
	Section 2. Grievance Defined
	Section 3. Purposes of the Grievance Procedure
	Section 4. Procedure
	Section 5. Grievance & Appeal Procedure for Discrimination
	Section 6. Back Pay Awards
	Section 7. Employee Representation
	Section 8. Whistle Blowing Procedure & Protection
	ARTICLE XI. PERSONNEL RECORDS AND REPORTS
	Section 1. Public Information
	Section 2. Access to Confidential Records
	Section 3. Personnel Actions
	Section 4. Records of Former Employees
	Section 5. Remedies of Employees Objecting to Material in File
	Section 6. Penalties for Permitting Access to Confidential Records
	Section 7. Examining or Copying Material Without Authorization
	Section 8. Destruction of Records Regulated
	ARTICLE XII. IMPLEMENTATION OF POLICIES
	Section 1. Conflicting Policies Repealed
	Section 2. Separability
	Section 3. Effective Date

	3bSpecial Meeting September 25 2019 minutes
	3c June 10 2019
	3d MFR October 2019
	4OATH OF OFFICE - Shane Armstrong
	5 Annexation of New Road
	5aCemetery Road Documents
	5bannexation checklist
	file checklist

	6aShady Oak Pump Station
	6bShady Oak Bids FEMA 10.02.2019
	6cRecommendation to Award -Shady Oak PS
	7 Census Committee Needed
	7aCENSUS(1)_0001
	7bCENSUS(1)_0002
	7cCENSUS(2)_0001
	7dCENSUS(3)_0001
	7eCENSUS(4)_0001
	7fCENSUS(4)_0002
	7gCENSUS(5)_0001
	7hCENSUS(6)_0001
	7iCENSUS(6)_0002
	7jCENSUS_0001
	7kCENSUS_0002
	8BK Conditional Use Application

